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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

TEREREEENRED T

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of China
Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited (the “Company”),
| am pleased to present the audited annual results of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale
of nonwoven fabric related products used in automotive interior
decoration parts and other parts, the trading of rubber and food
products. The Group deploys financial resource to securities
investment to achieve earnings in the form of capital appreciation
and income from dividends. The Group also taps into the business of
financial services through the investment in a securities house.

Manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric
related products

Manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric related products is one
of the principal business of the Group. The Group manufactures its
products with single layer or multiple layers of nonwoven fabric in
accordance with specific requirements and standards of different
customers. Most of the customers of nonwoven fabric related
products are primary manufacturers and suppliers of automotive
parts in the PRC. The majority of the Group's products are further
processed by these customers in order to make different automotive
parts such as floor, head lining, seat cover, parcel tray, trunk,
luggage-side trim, hubcap and car-mat, which are of different
characteristics and are to be applied for different usages in passenger
vehicles.

According to the statistics released from China Association of
Automobile Manufacturers (“CAAM"), the production and sales of
passenger vehicles in the PRC were approximately 21,923,000 units
and 26,063,000 units respectively for the year ended 31 December
2023, representing an increase of approximately 4.2% and 10.6%.
These favorable growth in passenger vehicles market resulted in a
stable demand for automotive materials of the Group during 2023.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

TEREREEENRESN (F

In 2021, the Group set up new production lines in Jilin Province, the
PRC for the supply of the automotive components (the “Automotive
Components”) to a components supplier of an automotive
manufacturer under the brand “FAW Toyota”.

In order to secure a stable supply of raw material at favourable price
or terms in a timely manner, it was usual course of the business
in automotive industry to provide deposits to suppliers. The trade
deposits would be subsequent utilized.

Since the relocation of production lines to Cangzhou and Chengdu
and the diversification to supply of the Automotive Components in
Jilin during the 2022, the Group would paid to the suppliers of plant
and equipment as prepayments for upgrading the existing production
lines (such as modifying and replacing accessories of the production
facilities and equipment) for perfection of production, acquiring
new production facilities and equipment. At 31 December 2023, the
prepayments for acquisition of property, plant and equipment was
approximately RMB58.1 million. The Group expects the plant and
equipment would be installed and the amounts of prepayment would
be utilized in 2024.

Supply and procurement operation

The Group commenced its business of rubber trading since 2012
and the quoted price of rubber was generally varied according to
the tendency of the commodities markets. To manage the risk, the
Group mainly carried out that business in back-to-back model. As
the significant fluctuation in price of top commodities, crude oil, the
Group only accepted the orders with lower default risk.

After COVID-19 pandemic, the Group adopted strategies to exit
the business which is loss-making and with unpromising prospect.
The Group diversified into the business of trading of food products
since 2016. The business of trading of food products incurred losses
for years and did not generated any income in 2023. Its revenue in
2022 and 2021 just accounted for 4.12% and 5.75% of the Group’s
revenue respectively and became side business of the Group. In view
of the loss-making record and no relevant personnel within the Group
is able to manage this business, the Group disposed the business to
reduce the risk of the Group during the first quarter of 2024.

Interests in associates

The Company through a joint venture company indirectly hold 42%
of the equity interest in GEO Securities Limited (“GEO Securities”)
and classified as “interests in associates” at 31 December 2023. GEO
Securities has the licenses to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities),
Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (Asset Management)
regulated activities under the Securities and Future Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong. The Group
shared a loss of associates of approximately RMB2.8 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEBREREEENREDN (F)

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue for the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 was illustrated as follows:

Bt %% [E] E&

'ON
HE-_T-_=FR-_ZT-__F+=-A=+—HIE
FEAEBEMBRAETMT

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=+—-HLEE

2023 2022
—E=-= T
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR¥T AR T T
Nonwoven fabric related products for RRAREMESMIBEE®R
use in automobiles
— Sales of automotive floor carpets —REMBMEE 88,766 136,083
- Sales of other automotive parts —EMABERGNEE 24,907 34,769
Sales of rubber BBHHEE - 5,599
Sales of food products REmriEE - 7,585
113,673 184,036

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s revenue decrease
to approximately RMB113.7 million, compared to approximately
RMB184.0 million in 2022, representing a decrease of approximately
38.2%. The decrease in the Group’s revenue was mainly attributable
to the decrease in revenue of sale of automotive floor carpets.

Gross profit

As a result of improvement of production efficiency after the
relocation of production lines, for the year ended 31 December
2023, the Group's gross profit increase by approximately RMB11.3
million to approximately RMB30.8 million.

Other net gain/(losses)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s other net gain
or losses changed from a loss of approximately RMB19.1 million
in 2022 to a gain of approximately RMB5.0 million in 2023. It
was mainly due to fair value gain on financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL") of approximately RMB6.3 million in
2023, as compared to a fair value loss on FVTPL of approximately
RMB20.3 million in 2022. The fair value gain on financial assets at
FVTPL mainly comprised of the fair value gain on investment in listed
equity securities of China Investment and Finance Group Limited
(approximately RMB4.8 million). Further information of the financial
assets at FVTPL are disclosed in the “Significant Investments” section
below.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEBREREEENREDN (F)

The other net gain or losses also composed of a loss on
deconsolidation of subsidiaries of approximately RMB6.5
million. Details of the loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries
("Deconsolidation”) are set out in “"MODIFIED AUDIT OPINION”
section as below and Note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses decreased by approximately
RMB21.5 million to approximately RMB20.7 million for the
year ended 31 December 2023, which mainly due to one-off
compensation to the staff of approximately RMB8.1 million and
loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment of approximately
RMB10.0 million in connection with the relocation of production
lines from Wuxi to Cangzhou and Chengdu in 2022. The Group’s
administrative expenses mainly consist of employee benefits expenses
including Director’'s emoluments and staff costs of approximately
RMB10.6 million (2022: RMB14.9 million) and depreciation of right-
of-use assets of approximately RMB2.4 million (2022: RMB2.9
million).

Profit/(loss) attributable to the owners of the
Company

The profit attributable to the owners of the Company was
approximately RMB30.0 million for the year of 2023 compared with
a loss of approximately RMB78.6 million for the corresponding period
of 2022. The turnaround are primarily attributable to fair value gain
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, and reversal of
net allowance for expected credit losses of approximately RMB27.5
million during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PROSPECT AND OUTLOOK

The Board expects that 2024 will be a challenging year for the
business of manufacturing and sale of nonwoven fabric related
products as the continuously increase in production costs for
maintaining competitiveness and enhancing safety requirements to
cope with the development of the automotive industry.

To maintain competitiveness, the Group will still deploy its resources
on:

(1) upgrading the production lines in order to improve the
production efficiency;

(2) installing new machineries to suit the customers’ varying
requirements and demands on high-end products;

(3) conducting research and development to keep up with
the latest technological trends in relation to product
specifications; and
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEBREREEENREDN (F)

4) strengthening the quality control systems to retain customer
loyalty and reinforce the Group’s reputation in the nonwoven

fabric related products industry in the PRC.

As a result of the increasing risk of volatility in rubber price since
the fluctuation in price of crude oil, the Group would be cautious in
accepting orders to avoid any downside exposure.

In addition, the Group will continue to adopt a prudent approach to
manage its money lending business and on the other hands to seek
for opportunities to expand this operation.

Going forward, with a view to achieving better return and enhancing
the expansion of the Group, the Group will look for potential
investment opportunities to diversify its business scope.

MODIFIED AUDIT OPINION

The Company’'s auditor expressed an disclaimer of opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial
year ended 31 December 2023 (“Disclaimer”), which mainly arises
from loss of control of Loyal Brands International Limited and its
subsidiaries (“Loyal Brands Group”).

The Group acquired Loyal Brands Group, including Grand York
Limited Giant Faith Holdings Limited, FIIX =B EEBRE QD
and FIEEZRMAEAMRAF in May 2017. Loyal Brands Group
principally engaged in trading of food products.

In or around November 2023, the Board was informed by Mr. Wong
Ho Yin, the former director of the Company, that the business and
accounting records of Loyal Brands Group were unable to located
(“the Incident”). He has also tried to contact the former person-in-
charge of Loyal Brands Group (the “Responsible Staff”), who was
the only one in Hong Kong managed business of trading of food
products of Loyal Brands Group, but he was unable to obtain its
accounting books and records (the “Relevant Record”).

As no relevant personnel in Hong Kong, the Company could not take
appropriate action until a new executive director, Mr. Ng Chung Ho
(“Mr. Ng”), was appointed on 27 December 2023.

In the first half of January 2024, Mr. Ng had thoroughly searched
all the files and documents kept in the office in Hong Kong and
was unable to locate the Relevant Record. On 6 February 2024, Mr.
Ng tried to contact the Responsible Staff but was unable to obtain
positive response and cooperation. Mr. Ng further contacted the
former director of Loyal Brands Group but he replied that he did not
have any Relevant Record. The Company then informed the auditors
regarding the loss of control over Loyal Brands Group.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEBREREEENREDN (F)

As the business of trading of food products which operated by Loyal
Brands Group was not significant to the Group and no relevant
personnel within the Group was able to resume the business, the
Board decided to dispose Loyal Brands Group to reduce the financial
and compliance risk of the Group. On 14 March 2024, the Group
disposed Loyal Brands Group with a cash consideration of HK$1
million to an independent third party (the “Disposal”).

In light of the above, the Company considered that it had lost control
over Loyal Brands Group since 1 January 2023 and deconsolidated
Loyal Brands Group from the consolidated financial statements
accordingly and incurred a loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries of
approximately RMB6.47 million. The auditor was unable to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy as to whether the
Deconsolidation treatment and the loss on Deconsolidation had been
accurately recorded and properly accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements (“Audit Issue”).

Management’s position and the Audit
Committee’s view

The management of the Company (the “Management”) understood
the Incident and concurred with the basis of the Disclaimer. The
Management’s view is consistent with the auditor’s view.

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) had
critically reviewed the basis for the Disclaimer. The Audit Committee
had also discussed with the auditors regarding the Incident, and
considered the auditor’s rationale and understood their consideration
in arriving the Disclaimer.

Plans to address the modifications

The Board considered the Disclaimer given by the auditors was
based on loss of control of Loyal Brand Group and was a non-
recurrent event. Since the completion of the Disposal in March 2024,
Loyal Brands Group ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company and
the Company ceased to have any interests in Loyal Brands Group.
In addition, the financial impact of the Incident was reflected
in the consolidated financial statements in 2023. It is expected
that there will not be any adverse change of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group in the next financial year and the
subsequent years.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

ITEBREREEENRESN (F

Based on the communication with the auditors, the Board (including
the Audit Committee) and the auditors concurred that if the
Company could provide sufficient audit evidence to the auditors
to support the Disposal for the year ending 31 December 2024,
except for the audit modifications on (1) the opening balances
in relation to the Deconsolidation and the amount recognized in
relation to the Disposal to be stated in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ending 31 December 2024,
and (2) the comparative figures to be stated in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ending 31 December
2025, there would not be other audit modifications in respect of the
matters referred to above. In respect of the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ending 31 December 2025, any
audit modifications should solely relate to the comparability of 2024
figures. Accordingly, the Audit Issue will not have any continuing
effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ending 31 December 2026 and the subsequent years.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group generally financed its operations by internal cash
resources and bank financing during 2023. At 31 December 2023,
cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to approximately
RMB26.0 million (2022: RMB25.3 million), and approximately
RMB10.3 million (2022: RMB12.9 million) of which are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars.

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s liquidity ratio, represented by
the ratio of current assets over current liabilities, and gearing ratio,
represented by the ratio of total liabilities to total assets, were 1.56
(2022: 1.41) and 0.43 (2022: 0.60) respectively.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no material change in the capital structure of the
Group during the year 31 December 2023.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Majority of the assets and liabilities of the Group were denominated
in Renminbi, United States dollars and Hong Kong dollars. At 31
December 2023, the Group had no significant exposure under
foreign exchange contracts, interest, currency swaps or other
financial derivatives.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

TEBREREEENRESN (F

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

At 31 December 2023, the Group held (i) approximately 8.0 million
shares (approximately 1.9%) of China Investment and Finance Group
Limited (“C1"), (ii) approximately 22.8 million shares (approximately
2.6%) of Wealth Glory Holdings Limited (“WG"), (iii) approximately
11.0 million shares (approximately 4.8%) of Lerado Financial Group
Company Limited (“LF”), and (iv) approximately 4.5 million shares
(approximately 1.8%) of Tai Kam Holdings Limited (“TK"). CI, WG,
LF and TK were the companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange. Cl is principally engaged in investment holding and
trading of securities. WG is principally engaged in trading of natural
resources and commodities; money lending business; development
and promotion of brands, design, manufacture and sale of trendy
fashion merchandises and other consumer products; and investment
in securities. LF is principally engaged in providing financial services
including securities broking, margin financing and money lending
etc., as well as manufacturing and distributing children plastic toys
and medical care products. TK is principally engaged in undertaking
site formation works and renovation works in Hong Kong.

The Group’s investment in Cl, WG, LF and TK were collectively
referred to as the “Significant Investments”.

Detail of the Significant Investments are as follows:

Year ended

31 December
2023
BE-ZE=-=F
t=A=+-8
LFE

Fair Value
gain/(loss)
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Wz (EE)
RMB’000
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT & MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Continued)

TEBREREEENRESN (F

At 31 December 2023, the financial assets at FVTPL comprised 17
listed equity securities in Hong Kong and except the above, there
was no investment held by the Group which value was more than 1%
of the total assets of the Group.

Looking ahead, the value of the Significant Investments may be
susceptible to the overall equity market conditions.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

There was no material acquisitions or disposal of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies by the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PLEDGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2023, the Group's investment property with a
carrying amounts of approximately RMB3.8 million (2022: RMB4.1
million) and leasehold land with a carrying amounts of approximately
RMB2.2 million (2022: RMB2.3 million) were pledged to banks for
bank borrowings.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

At 31 December 2023, the Group employed a total of 96
employees (2022: 96). The gender ratio of the Group's workforce
(including senior management) was approximately 72.9% male to
approximately 27.1% female. The Group shall continue to take into
account diversity perspectives including gender diversity in its hiring
of employees from time to time. The remuneration policy of the
employees of the Group was set up by the Board on the basis of
their experience, qualifications and competence. Other employees’
benefits include contributions to statutory mandatory provident
funds, and social insurance together with housing provident funds to
its employees in Hong Kong and the PRC respectively.

A remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) was
set up for, inter alia, reviewing the Group'’s remuneration policy and
structure for all directors and senior management of the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Group, | would like to take this opportunity to
express my sincere gratitude to all of our customers, business
partners and investors for their support and trust towards the Group.
Further, | would like to express my sincere thanks to our Directors
and employees for their dedications and contributions to the Group.

By order of the Board

Zhuang Yuejin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31 March 2024
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin, aged 61, is the Chairman of the Board, Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and founder of the Group. He
was appointed as an executive Director on 12 April 2010. He
has over 15 years of experience in the nonwoven textile industry.
He is responsible for formulating the Group’s corporate strategy,
overseeing its production operations and the overall steering of the
Group's strategic development.

Mr. Zhuang graduated from Xiamen Fisheries College in 1981
and was approved as a qualified engineer by the Intermediate
Level Adjudication Committee of Xiamen City Marine Engineering
Department in 1990. From 1997 to 2001, Mr. Zhuang was the
director and the general manager of Xiamen Marine Industries
(Group) Co., Limited, a PRC incorporated company and was
previously listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Mr. Ng Chung Ho, aged 48, was appointed as an executive Director
on 27 December 2023. Mr. Ng has over 20 years of experience
in corporate management and extensive experience and business
networks in Hong Kong and the PRC. Prior to joining the Group, he
was a chief executive officer of a insurance broker which is permitted
to carry on businesses in general insurance and long term (including
linked long term) insurance in Hong Kong.

Mr. Ng was also an executive chairman of Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area Youth Society ( 2B X /EE S F1#E ) and
a director of the board in AD & FD POHL Mrs Cheng Yam On School.

Ms. Xiao Suni, aged 40, was appointed as an executive Director on
14 October 2014. She has over 10 years of experience in the field
of international trading and marketing. She holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree from Nanjing Army Command College, the PRC with major
in English. Prior to joining the Group, she worked for a door-window
manufacturer in the PRC as foreign trade manager, in which her
responsibilities focused on overall management of foreign sales and
marketing.
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BIOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

EERSREEENERER (A

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Mak Wai Ho, aged 51, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 9 September 2011. He was graduated
from the Hong Kong University of Science and Technology with a
Bachelor degree in Business Administration in Finance. He is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the
United Kingdom and a practising member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. He is a practising certified public
accountant and has more than 20 years of experience in finance,
accounting and auditing.

Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline, aged 45, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 4 September 2015. Ms. Ng has over 10
years of experience in human resources and corporate management.
Ms. Ng obtained a Certificate of Human Resources Management from
Hong Kong Baptist University in 2011 and was a senior administrative
officer of a renowned international information technology company
in Hong Kong.

Ms. Zhu Chunyan, aged 47, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 2 September 2016. Ms. Zhu was graduated
from Xiangtan University, China, with a bachelor’s degree majoring in
finance and accounting in July 1999. Prior to joining the Group, she
worked for a sizable travel related services company in the PRC as an
accountant and gained extensive knowledge in corporate finance and
management.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Wu Danping, aged 49, is the manager of the accounting
department of Joystar (Wuxi) Automotive Interior Decoration Co., Ltd.
("Joystar Wuxi”). Ms. Wu is responsible for the financial reporting
and the management of the accounting and finance department of
Joystar Wuxi.

Ms. Wu obtained the Certificate of Accounting Professional issued
by the Jiangsu Province Department of Finance and the Qualification
Certificate of Specialty and Technology with specialty in accountancy
conferred by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC in 1997 and 2006
respectively.

In 2008, Ms. Wu completed an online diploma programme in
accountancy from China Agricultural University. She has 18 years of
experience in financial accounting and reporting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2023. This report highlights the key
corporate governance practices of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance to protect the interests of the shareholders of
the Company. The Company's corporate governance practices are
based on principles and code provisions as set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (“Code”) in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

Except for the deviation from Code provision C.2.1, the Company
complied with the Code for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is the Chairman and
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Such deviation from
Code provision C.2.1 is deemed appropriate as it is considered to
be more efficient to have one single person as the Chairman of
the Company as well as to discharge the executive functions of a
chief executive officer, and it provides the Group with strong and
consistent leadership in the development and execution of long
term business strategies. The Board believes that the balance of
power and authority is adequately ensured by the operations of the
Board which comprises highly experienced individuals. There are
three independent non-executive Directors on the Board. All of them
possess adequate independence and therefore the Board considers
the Company has achieved balance and provided sufficient protection
of its interests.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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CODE OF CONDUCT REGARDING SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings as set out in the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in Appendix C3
to the Listing Rules. Having made specific enquiry with all Directors,
the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the
code of conduct and the required standard of dealings concerning
securities transactions by the Directors during the year 31 December
2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2023, the Board comprises three executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin (Chairman)
Mr. Ng Chung Ho
Ms. Xiao Suni

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Mak Wai Ho
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline
Ms. Zhu Chunyan

The composition of the Board is well balanced with each Director
having sound industry knowledge, extensive corporate and strategic
planning experience and/or expertise relevant to the business of the
Group. The biographical details of the Directors and the relationship
among the members of the Board are set out in the section headed
“Biographical Information of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 13 to 14 of this report.

Generally, the responsibilities of the Board include:
o Formulation of overall strategic development of the Group;

o Monitoring the financial performance, risk management and
internal control systems of the Group’s business operations;

o Evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks
it is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic objectives,
and ensuring that appropriate and effective risk management
and internal control systems are in places;
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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o Material acquisitions, investments, disposal of assets or any
significant capital expenditure;

o Appointment, removal or reappointment of Board members
and auditors;

o Remuneration of Directors;

o Communications with key stakeholders;

o Recommendation and declaration of any interim and final
dividends.

Executive Directors are responsible for running the Group and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. The Board delegates
day-to-day activities to the management with department heads
responsible for different aspects of the business. The non-executive
Directors serve the relevant function of bringing independent
judgment on the development, performance and risk management
of the Group through their contributions in board meetings. They are
also serving on Remuneration Committee, nomination committee of
the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) and Audit Committee.

During the year 31 December 2023, the Board complies with the
requirement of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive Directors and at least one
of them has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The independent
non-executive Directors do not hold any management position
in the Group. The Company has received from each independent
non-executive Director an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers
all the independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (Continued)
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The Board normally has four regular meetings a year at quarterly
interval and meets as and when required to discuss the overall
business, development strategy, operations and financial reporting
of the Company. The Directors can attend meetings in person or
through other means of electronic communication in accordance
with the Company’'s articles of association. During the year ended
31 December 2023, four Board meetings and one general meeting
were held. The following table shows the attendance of individual
Directors at the meetings held during the year ended 31 December
2023:

No. of attendance

General Board

Members meetings meetings
Executive Directors
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 11 4/4
Mr. Ng Chung Ho (appointed on

27 December 2023) 0/0 0/0
Ms. Xiao Suni (Al 4/4
Mr. Wong Ho Yin (resigned on

18 October 2023) 171 3/3
Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Mak Wai Ho 11 4/4
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline 11 4/4
Ms. Zhu Chunyan 11 4/4

The Directors will receive details of agenda and minutes of committee
meetings in advance of and after each Board meeting respectively.
The company secretary will distribute relevant documents to the
Directors in a timely manner to enable the Directors to make
informed decisions on matters to be raised at the Board meetings.
All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company
secretary who is responsible for ensuring the procedures of the Board
meetings are complied with and advising the Board on compliance
matters.

In addition, the Company has maintained a procedure for the
Directors to seek independent professional advice, in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense in discharging their duties
to the Company. Moreover, the company secretary prepares minutes
of the Board meetings and keeps records of matters discussed and
decisions resolved at all Board meetings. The company secretary
also keeps the minutes of the Board meetings, which are open
for inspection at any reasonable time on reasonable notice by any
Director.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual.

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of
the Company. Such deviation from Code provision C.2.1 is deemed
appropriate as it is considered to be more efficient to have one single
person as the Chairman of the Company as well as to discharge the
executive functions of a chief executive officer, and it provides the
Group with strong and consistent leadership in the development
and execution of long-term business strategies. The Board believes
that the balance of power and authority is adequately ensured by
the operations of the Board which comprises highly experienced
individuals. There are three independent non-executive Directors on
the Board. All of them possess adequate independence and therefore
the Board considers the Company has achieved balance and provided
sufficient protection of its interests.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

According to the Company’s articles of association, one-third of the
Directors are required to retire from office at each annual general
meeting, provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once in every three years. A Director appointed
since the most recent annual general meeting shall hold office
only until the next general meeting and shall then be eligible for
re-election. The independent non-executive Directors were appointed
at specific terms for one year.

Newly appointed Director will be arranged a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction which includes provision of key guidelines,
documents and publications relevant to their roles, responsibilities
and ongoing obligations; a briefing on the Company’s structure,
businesses, risk management and other governance practices
and meeting with other fellow Directors so as to help the newly
appointed Directors familiarize with the management, business and
governance policies and practices of the Company, and ensure that
they have a proper understanding of the operations and businesses
of the Company.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to Code provision C.1.4, all Directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution
to the Board remains informed and relevant. All the Directors
also understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participate any suitable training
or read relevant materials in order to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Company has received from each Director
a confirmation of their participation in continuous professional
development by attending training course or reading relevant
materials on the topics related to corporate governance and
regulations.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board and maintain an
appropriate balance of diversity properties of the Board that are
relevant to the business growth of the Company. The Company
considered diversity of board members can be achieved through
consideration of a number of aspects, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of services. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of services. The ultimate decision will be made upon the
merits and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

At the date of this report, the composition of the Board under
diversified perspectives was summarized as follows:

Executive Directors

HITEE

Designation

B

Gender

il

Ethnicity
Tk

Age group
FHE

1-10 years
12104

Directorship with the Company
RN IR E E /) F A

EEEREZULERE
ARARDRMEZTERBZTLERE HPEHEE
REFEREBEZ T ERFERARFHIE RN
HNEESZTEBUEMNEE TG 2T - KAAF
RBRAUBBZTEEEEREFEXNEZ T B
BETRRMER F& XEERHEER HEL
B MBLERBEH - EZSMBRESH
AT UHEEEREAFUEBENTOBRE
EgRBE LM

BEREABER - RNZ B BFEETR
RIS Fie - XERBEER BELR K-
MBS RIGFH - REORTEFIRATEREANEE
REKBREFEHRNBERMMMEDL -

B ZatARETESENRBAEKE

Chinese
ik

11-20 years
112204
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Remuneration Committee on
13 September 2010 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee
include making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for all Directors and senior management, reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the terms of remuneration
packages, determining the award of bonuses and reviewing and/or
approving matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules. At 31 December 2023, the Remuneration Committee
comprises one executive Director, namely, Mr. Zhuang Yuejin and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Mak Wai Ho
(chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Ms. Zhu Chunyan.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, one meeting was held
by the Remuneration Committee to discuss, among other things, the
remuneration policy of the Group and determine the remuneration of
the Directors. The following table shows the attendance of individual
members at the meetings held during the year ended 31 December
2023:
Members No. of attendance
Executive Director
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 1Al
Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Mak Wai Ho

Ms. Zhu Chunyan

1Al
1Al
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee on
13 September 2010 with written terms of reference in compliance
with the Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee
include reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board,
making recommendations to the Board regarding candidates to fill
vacancies on the Board, assessing the independence of independent
non-executive Directors and making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors. In reviewing and accessing the composition
of the Board and the nomination of Directors, Board diversity
has to be considered through a number of aspects, including but
not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of services. The
Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director, namely
Mr. Zhuang Yuejin (chairman of the Nomination Committee), and
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Mak Wai Ho
and Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, one meeting was held
by the Nomination Committee to, among other things, assess the
independence of independent non-executive Directors and make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors.
The Nomination Committee also reviewed the board diversity policy
to ensure its effectiveness and considered the Group achieved the
policy since its adoption. The following table shows the attendance
of individual members at the meeting held during the year ended 31
December 2023:
Members No. of attendance
Executive Director

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin 171

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Mak Wai Ho 11
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline 171
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BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Company adopted a nomination policy, which establishes
written guidelines to the Nomination Committee to identify
individuals suitably qualified to become Board members and make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships with reference to the formulated criteria.
The Board is ultimately responsible for selection and appointment of
new Directors. The Board, through the delegation of its authority to
the Nomination Committee, has used its best efforts to ensure that
Directors appointed to the Board possess the relevant background,
experience and knowledge in business, finance and management
skills critical to the Group’s business to enable the Board to make
sound and well considered decisions. Collectively, they have
competencies in areas which are relevant and valuable to the Group.

NOMINATION PROCESS

The Nomination Committee shall assess whether any vacancy on
the Board has been created or is expected on a regular basis or as
required. The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods for
identifying director candidates, including recommendations from
Board members, management, and professional search firms. All
director candidates, including incumbents and candidates nominated
by Shareholders are evaluated by the Nomination Committee based
upon the director qualifications. While director candidates will be
evaluated on the same criteria through review of resume, personal
interview and performance of background checks. The Nomination
Committee retains the discretion to establish the relative weighting
of such criteria, which may vary based on the composition, skill sets,
age, gender and experiences of the collective Board rather than on
the individual candidate for the purpose of diversity perspectives
appropriate to the requirement of the Company’s business.

SELECTION CRITERIA

The Nomination Committee will take into account whether a
candidate has the qualifications, skills, experience and gender
diversity that add to and complement the range of skills, experience
and background of existing Directors by considering the highest
personal and professional ethics and integrity of the director
candidates, proven achievement and competence in the nominee’s
field and the ability to exercise sound business judgment, skills that
are complementary to those of the existing Board, the ability to assist
and support management and make significant contributions to the
Company'’s success and such other factors as it may deem are in the
best interests of the Company and the Shareholders. The Company
shall review and reassess the nomination policy and its effectiveness
on a regular basis or as required.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee on 13 September
2010 with written terms of reference in compliance with the Listing
Rules. As at 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee comprises
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Mak Wai
Ho (chairman of the Audit Committee), Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline and
Ms. Zhu Chunyan.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, two meetings were held
by the Audit Committee. The following table shows the attendance
of individual members at the meetings held during the year ended
31 December 2023:

Members No. of attendance

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Mak Wai Ho 2/2
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline 2/2
Ms. Zhu Chunyan 2/2

During the year 31 December 2023, the Audit Committee, among
other things, reviewed the interim and annual reports as well as
result announcements before submission to the Board. The Audit
Committee focuses not only on the impact of the changes in
accounting policies and practices but also on the compliance with
accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements in
review of the Company’s interim and annual reports as well as result
announcements. The Audit Committee also reviewed the Company’s
financial controls, risk management and internal control systems and
make recommendation to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the
Code provision A.2.1.

The Board reviewed the Company's corporate governance policies
and practices, continuous professional development of Directors,
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Listing Rules, and
the Company's compliance with the Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Audit Committee is responsible for considering the appointment
of the external auditors and also reviews any non-audit functions
performed by the external auditors for the Group, including whether
such non-audit functions could lead to any potential material adverse
effect on the Group. During the year 31 December 2023, the
auditors of the Company performed the work of statutory audit for
the year of 2023. There was no non-audit service provided by the
auditors of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023. For
the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration payable and
paid to the auditors of the Company were as follows:

Audit services EIZRTE
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group's strategic objectives, maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control systems and reviewing
their effectiveness to safeguard the Group's assets.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
manage, rather than eliminate business risk; to help safeguard the
Group’s assets against fraud and other irregularities; and to give
reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material financial
misstatement or loss.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has reviewed the adequacy
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems, covering financial, operational and compliance
controls and risk management functions, which included the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of
the accounting and financial reporting function, and their training
programmes and budget.

The Company has taken appropriate measures to identify inside
information and preserve its confidentiality until proper dissemination
via the electronic publication system operated by the Stock Exchange.
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The Company has engaged an external professional consultant to
conduct independent internal control review for the year ended 31
December 2023. For the year ended 31 December 2023, expect
as disclosed below, the Board considered the Group's internal
control system as adequate and effective and that the Company has
complied with the code provisions on risk management and internal
control as set out in the Code.

Internal control implications on Audit Issue

The Company's auditor expressed an disclaimer of opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the financial year
ended 31 December 2023, which mainly arises from loss of control of
the acquired business. Details of the Audit Issue set out in “MODIFIED
AUDIT OPINION" section in this report.

The Company considered the internal control deficiencies that gave
rise to the Audit Issue and the Company’s remedial measures to ratify
the control deficiencies were as follows:

Internal control deficiencies Company’s remedial measures

a) The internal control policies of the
Group have not been reviewed and
updated properly. Such policies only
cover the Company and the core
subsidiaries of the Group in the
PRC, which does not include the
acquired business.

The Company will review and update its
internal control policies at least once a year
and provide training to the relevant staff
to ensure their knowledge of the change
of control procedures. For newly acquired
business, the Company will also provide
training to relevant staffs to ensure their
understanding on the requirement on a
listed company.
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Internal control deficiencies

b) The Company lost control of Loyal
Brands Group and the business and
accounting records of Loyal Brands
Group were not provided to the
auditors.

¢ The Company's operating
subsidiaries were only reviewed by
the head of each subsidiary without
reporting to any of the relevant
directors of the Company. Except
for the interim and annual report,
the Board had not received any
monthly or regular management
accounts from the operating
subsidiaries. Only “significant
issues” were required to report to
the Board monthly. However, there
was no guideline to define what
constituted “significant issues”.

FESEABKESR AR

Company's remedial measures

The Company will review and update its
internal control policies so that it can
exercise control over all of its subsidiaries
by ensuring that:

(i) the legal representative of the PRC
subsidiaries and a director of each
subsidiary shall be the designated
member of the Board:;

(i) the financial department of the

subsidiaries shall directly report to the
designated member of the Board;

(iii

the Company shall consider any legal
action against any of its significant
personnel who violate their duties
or responsibilities and has led to
significant loss of the Group;

(iv) representative(s) of the Board
regularly visit each of operating
subsidiaries to make sure that the
necessary accounting records are well
maintained; and

(v) emergency procedures shall be
established, such as setting up team of
legal and financial experts, to prevent
and control potential loss of control of
subsidiaries.

The Company will review and update its
internal control policies, and define the
matters that affecting the continuing
operation or legal compliance operation,
the general manager or legal representative
of the subsidiaries will notify any executive
director in writing or by email within 3 days
after aware of the relevant matters. The
executive directors will consult the financial
adviser or legal adviser on whether it is
necessary to issue any announcement in
accordance with the requirements of the
Listing Rules.

The Company will review and update its
internal control policies to ensure monthly
management account of each subsidiary is
obtained.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. MAN Yun Wah has been nominated by In.Corp Corporate
Services (HK) Limited to act as the Company Secretary, who has
complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules. He has been
contacting with the Board directly in respect of company secretarial
matters. He reports to the Board directly in 2023.

WHISTLE-BLOWING AND ANTI-CORRUPTION
POLICY

The Group has formulated whistle blowing policy which allows all
staff and independent third parties, including customers, suppliers
and contractors, to report any possible improprieties, misconducts,
malpractices or irregularities in matters of financial reporting, internal
control or other matters to the Board or the Audit Committee
anonymously. The Group will handle the reports and complaints with
care and will treat the whistle-blower’s concerns fairly and properly.
Any person who is found to have victimized or retaliated against
those who have raised concerns under this policy will subject to
disciplinary sanctions.

The Group abides by the anti-corruption policy and has implemented
an anti-bribery commitment policy whereby the Group’s internal key
segment employees and key position employees are required to sign
a "Letter of Undertaking of Anti-bribery/Anti-corruption”. The Group
has also encouraged employees and companies with whom we have
business dealings to report any acts of corruption. Investigations of
these cases would be kept strictly confidential. The Group realizes
that accepting improper benefits would ruin the Group’s integrity.
As such, where business dealings may cause a conflict of interest,
employees would be required to fill out a “Conflict of Interest
Declaration Form”. In addition, the Group would provide related
training to increase employees’ understanding of conflict of interest.

The Group has strictly complied with the laws and regulations related
to anti-corruption. During the Reporting Period, there have been
no cases of prosecution against the Group due to violation of any
relevant laws, such as the Criminal Law of the PRC, the Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the PRC and other national or regional laws and
regulations.

Please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance Report for
more details.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Procedure for nominating a new Director

Pursuant to Article 83(2) of the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”), subject to the Articles and the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands, the Company may by ordinary resolution
elect any person to be a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board, or as an addition to the existing Board.

Procedure for convening an extraordinary
general meeting

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more shareholder
holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the
right, by written requisition to the Board, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition and such meeting shall be held
within 2 months from the date of deposit of the requisition. If within
twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedure for sending enquires to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries or requests in respect of
their rights to the principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong and for the attention of the Company Secretary.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its shareholders, and investors. These include the
publication of annual and interim reports, notices, announcements,
circulars and constitutional documents, the Company’s website at
www.hklistco.com/48 and meetings with investors and analysts.

The Company encourages all shareholders to attend the annual
general meeting to stay informed of the Group's strategy and goals.
It provides an opportunity for direct communication between the
Board and its shareholders. The chairman of the meeting explains
the detailed procedures for conducting a poll and then answers any
questions from shareholders. The poll results are published on the
website of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Company has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholder
communication policy during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
concluded as effective.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, in view of the changes
to Appendix A1 to the Listing Rules, the Articles were amended, and
the adoption of the amended and restated memorandum and articles
of association of the Company was approved by the Shareholders at
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 June 2023.
For details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated
25 May 2023 and 28 June 2023 and the circular of the Company
dated 25 May 2023. The new Articles are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023,
which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group.
The auditors of the Company is responsible to form an independent
opinion based on the audit, on the financial statements prepared by
the Directors and report the opinion solely to the shareholders of the
Company.
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The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sale
of nonwoven fabric related products used in automotive interior
decoration parts and other parts, and the trading of rubber and food
products.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023 is set out in “Chairman’s Statement & Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4 to 12 of this report.

RESULTS AND FINANCIAL POSITION

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2023 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 47 and 48 of this report.

The state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at 31 December
2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of financial position and
the statement of financial position on pages 49 to 50 of this report and
in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are set
out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in Note 21 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of financial results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group are set out in the section headed “Summary of Financial
Information” on page 136 of this report.

RESERVES

The movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended
31 December 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 51 of this report. The movements in the
reserves of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2023
are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2023, the Company's reserve available for
distribution to owners of the Company comprising share premium
account amounted to approximately RMBNil (2022: RMBNil).

RESENHEES A

EEEMARINERSRAEBRABE_T_=F
TZA=ZT-BLEENRERREPBERE -

TEXRK
AEBEERFRERHEANTEAMERE
tEHNEHTARERAREERBREM

F5 R
AEBMBE-F-=F+-A=t-ALFEZ
$BEBEHNARE EAREE0RAN [EREE
RERENHEHW -

EBERBMBEMRR
AEBRBE_TE-_=ZF+_A=Z+—BLEE
MESHNAREFITAERFISEZRABHER
Hibh2mlaEk-

REBRARAR-_E-_=F+_A=1+—80H
EBMRADRENAREFEIOBE EFHES0B 27 A
BIEAR R M B AR N R A R AR & B SRR W &=
42 o

R AR

RRBHRANEEFBE
28 °

K8 2 R
CE GG P
21 e

MBENBRE
AEBHMBEERAENEEHRERRERS
136 [MBEARBE] — -

HNEA

81 7% R B o

ZRIBENER A Mg | R M

& 18
AEMKBE-F-=F+-A=t—BLF
MEER DA RS S5 B2 A EREDE
ARARBE-B-=F+-A=+—BL%F
OB BB 0 & B I SRR 42

Moo W

] {5 5 K o 16
RIE-=ZF+-A=+—8 AQAFAHEIEF
RARBEANBEEEEROEEROARES
T(ZEZZF: AREZ ) -

—E_=FH

31



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued))
ExeHs (&)

DIVIDEND POLICY

The board of directors of the Company established a dividend policy
(the “Dividend Policy”) in January 2019. The Company endeavours
to maintain adequate working capital to develop and operate the
business of the Group and to provide stable and sustainable returns
to the shareholders of the Company.

In considering the payment of dividends, the Board shall take into
account, among other things, the actual and expected financial
performance of the Group, the capital and debt level of the Group,
the general market conditions, any working capital requirements,
capital expenditure requirements and future development plans of
the Group, the liquidity position of the Group, contractual restrictions
on payment of dividends, the statutory and regulatory restrictions
which the Group is subject to from time to time and any other
relevant factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio. The Company’s dividend distribution record in the
past does not necessarily imply that the similar level of dividends may
be declared or paid by the Company in the future.

The declaration and payment of dividend by the Company is subject
to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands
and the Company’s articles of association and any other applicable
laws and regulations. The Board will continually review the Dividend
Policy and reserve the right in its sole and absolute discretion to
update, amend, modify and/or cancel the Dividend Policy at any
time.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in
no way obligate the Group to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.
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DIVIDENDS

The Board has resolved not to declare a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 51.1% (2022: 52.7%) of the total
sales for the year and sales to the largest customer accounted
for approximately 16.2% (2022: 18.9%) of total sales. Purchases
from the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate accounted for
approximately 45.3% (2022: 32.4%) of total purchases for the year
and purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately
11.7% (2022: 8.2%) of total purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
of the Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers during the
year 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties.
The following are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the
Group.

Reliance on major customers

In the year, sales to the Group's five largest customers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 51.1% (2022: 52.7%) of the total
sales for the year and sales to the largest customer accounted for
approximately 16.2% (2022: 18.9%) of total sales. If any of these
customers ceases to do business with the Group, or substantially
reduces the volume of its business with the Group and if the Group
is unable to secure new customers with similar sales volume and
profit margin, the Group’s business, results of operations and
financial position may be materially and adversely affected.
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Reliance on raw materials

The Group's production requires large quantities of raw materials,
which are mainly artificial and synthetic fibres, for the production
of nonwoven fabric related products. There is no assurance that
the Group will always be able to secure an adequate supply of raw
materials at commercially viable prices to meet the Group's future
production requirements. Moreover, fluctuations in the prices of the
raw materials may increase the cost of inventories sold and reduce
the gross profit and gross margin of the Group.

Reliance on limited number of suppliers

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers in aggregate
accounted for approximately 45.3% (2022: 32.4%) of total
purchases for the year and purchases from the largest supplier
accounted for approximately 11.7% (2022: 8.2%) of total purchases.
If any of these suppliers do not continue to supply materials and
goods to the Group at favourable or similar prices or at all, the
Group may not be able to find another suitable replacement supplier
in a timely manner or on terms acceptable to the Group or at all, and
the Group’s business, results of operations and financial condition
could be adversely affected.

Other financial risks

The Group also faces other financial risks in the ordinary course of
business. Details of financial risk management objectives and policies
are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group recognises the importance of good relationships with
its employees. The Group continues to provide training for its staff
to enhance technical and product knowledge as well as knowledge
of industry quality standards. The Group maintains good working
relationships with its employees and has not experienced any material
disruption of its normal business operations due to strikes or labour
disputes.

The Directors believe that the Group's good relationship with its
customers depends on its ability to produce reliable products for
its customers. The Group conducts surveys on customers’ feedback
on the Group's products, the results of which will be analyzed and
used to formulate measures of improvement. This provides a channel
for the Group's customers to monitor the quality of the Group’s
products.

34 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

AEENEEFTERERME EPIBRAER
ARG REEEESMABER MERER
SR -—ERKBELANTNERESTENEM
B#tE UENAEERRNEETHK N R
MHERORDITRSTFERA LA TREARAS
BEEMREFE-

HOHHEBWKRE

AEEHAAHERNRBESAXGEAFTERE
WBEEWAS 3% (B - —F:32.4% ) M ZAM
ERNEBEERBEEON TR (ZEF:
8.2% ) o W1 fa] 5% S5 {f FE 7 30 oK 48 48 DA B sk KB U
BREOAEEHRERMERER HTEETEE-
B AN S2 B 2R 24 B R R s LA AN SR @ Al 32 2 & 30D
R HEMEBEOEER SR REEKE - AARE
B ¥R CEEE NSRS BT -

H At 1 55 = B
AEER-REBBRPTERLCHBEAR 5
AP SEARERIBRREOFBERNGEEHB
MAM L6 -

BES FFRHEBz2BRE

AEBRAEEEERFRIBENERE -AE
SEREERMIEI U HE B TaRil kE
mAR ARHTREERENR B -AEBEEE
BEBAERT ARARIXGEEMMBRERA
—REBES -

EERAR AEEEEEPNRFHARIRANER
EPLAEREERNEN AEEEREPHAE
BEMNERETALZ XOMBHELER AR
ERERE - LBERAEEEFPFRHERAEBE
mERMRE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



DIRECTORS’ REPORT (Continued))
ExeHs (&)

The Group's major suppliers of its principal business are
manufacturers of artificial and synthetic fibers being the Group’s
primary raw materials. The Directors consider that the reliability of
suppliers are essential to maintaining an efficient production process
of the Group. The Group has laid down detailed supplier selection
procedures, and conducts reviews on its suppliers regularly and also
upon any material changes in the suppliers’ delivery period, quality
of supply, price and service.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

Committed to minimizing any environmental impact caused by its
production (such as noise, sewage and exhaust gas), the Group
adopts quality control measures and a comprehensive environmental
management system to ensure that the Group manufactures quality
products with minimum impacts on the environment. Meanwhile,
concerning environmental conservation, the Group follows the
internal guiding principles set out below in operating its business:

o to be committed to complying with relevant laws and
regulations;

o to strengthen the training of staff so that they all participate in
protecting the environment;

o to continuously improve and implement daily environmental
monitoring, review and management so as to prevent pollution;
and

. to economize on the consumption of resources.

Further details will be disclosed in the Company's Environmental,
Social and Governance Report 2023 to be published within April
2024.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group work closely with its advisers and auditors to review the
Group's affairs and ensure full compliance with all applicable laws,
rules and regulations. The Group’s operations are mainly carried out
by the Company’s subsidiaries in the PRC while the Company itself
is listed on the Stock Exchange. As far as the Company is aware, the
Group has complied in material aspects with the relevant laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Zhuang Yuejin

Mr. Ng Chung Ho (appointed on 27 December 2023)
Ms. Xiao Suni

Mr. Wong Ho Yin (resigned on 18 October 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Mak Wai Ho
Ms. Ng Li La, Adeline
Ms. Zhu Chunyan

Pursuant to Article 83(3) and 84(1) of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Ng Chung Ho, Mr. Mak Wai Ho and Ms. Ng Li La,
Adeline shall retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All
the retiring Directors are eligible for re-elections.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical information of the Directors and senior management
of the Group are set out in the section headed “Biographical
Information of Directors and Senior Management” on pages 13 to
14 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors, including those proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting, has a service agreement
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

REMUNERATION POLICY

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Board on the basis of their experience, qualifications and
competence.

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company are reviewed by
the Remuneration Committee and approved by the Board, having
regard to the relevant Director’s experience, responsibility, workload
and the time devoted to the Group; the Company’s operating results
and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
on 5 June 2015 to which the Directors and eligible employees,
among others are entitled to participate in. The Company operates
the Scheme for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations. Details of the Scheme are set out in the section “Share
Option Scheme” on pages 40 to 42 of this report.
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REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals in the Group are set out in Notes 15 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'’
INTERESTS IN SECURITIES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

So far as known to the Directors, at 31 December 2023, the interests
and short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO")) which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and/or short positions of which they were taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of SFO) or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO or otherwise required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers in Appendix C3 to the
Listing Rules (“Model Code”), were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares
of the Company
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Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors
or chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of
the SFO, or as otherwise required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year 31 December
2023 were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or of any other body
corporate granted to any Directors or their respective spouse or
children under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised
by them; or was the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors,
their respective spouse or children under 18 years of age to acquire
such rights in the Company or any body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER

PERSONS’ INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS

IN THE SHARES OR UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests in Securities, Underlying Shares and Debentures” on
page 37 of this report, at 31 December 2023, the Directors of the
Company were not aware of any persons who had, or was deemed
to have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company in
accordance with the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO; or be recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party at the end of the year
or at any time during the year 31 December 2023.
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DIRECTOR’S INTEREST IN COMPETING
INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the
Directors, the controlling shareholder and their respective associates
(as defined under the Listing Rules) that compete or may compete
with the business of the Group and any other conflict of interest
which any such person has or may have with the Group during the
year 31 December 2023.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year
31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
Interests in Securities, Underlying Shares and Debentures” on page
37 of this report, at no time during the year 31 December 2023 was
the Company, or its subsidiaries, or its fellow subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of the Company or
any other body corporate.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors at the latest practicable
date prior to issue of this report, the Company has maintained the
sufficient public float under the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year 31 December 2023, except for those disclosed in
Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had no
material transactions with its related parties.

The Directors conducted review of the related party transactions of
the Group during the year 31 December 2023 and were not aware
any transaction requiring disclosure of connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group at 31 December 2023
are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME

Particulars of the retirement benefit scheme of the Group are set out
in Note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of Cayman Islands which oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to its existing
shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company's articles of association, the Directors and
every one of them is entitled to be indemnified out of the assets
and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which the Directors or any of
them, shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty,
or supposed duty in their offices or otherwise in relation thereto
provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter in respect
of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of the Directors.

The Company has taken out and maintained Directors’ liability
insurance throughout the year which provides appropriate cover for
legal actions brought against the Directors.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Scheme on 5 June 2015 which will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from the effective date of
the Scheme and will expire on 4 June 2025.

Under the Scheme, the Directors may at their discretion grant options
to the eligible participants, including but not limited to, any Directors
(whether executive or non-executive and whether independent or
not) and any employee (whether full time or part time) of the Group
or any other person, who has contributed to the Group.
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The maximum number of shares in respect to which options may
be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company on the date of adopting the Scheme.
The limit may be refreshed at any time provided that the new limit
must not be in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company at the date of the shareholders’ approval in general
meeting. However, the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Scheme and any other scheme of the Company
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue from
time to time. At 31 December 2023 and the date of this report, an
aggregate of 19,830,000 share options granted under the Scheme
remained outstanding, which represented approximately 11.3% of
the issued share capital of the Company. At the date of this report,
the total number of shares available for issuance upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the Scheme was 17,511,510, which
represented approximately 10% of the issued share capital of the
Company at such date. The maximum number of shares in respect
of which options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue on the last date
of such 12-month period unless approval of the shareholders of the
Company has been obtained in accordance with the Listing Rules. A
nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant
of an option.

Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant of
the option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant as may be
determined by the Directors. The exercise price is determined by the
Directors, and will not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price
per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
on the date of the grant of the options; (ii) the average closing price
per share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of the
grant of the options; or (iii) the nominal value of a share. An option
may be accepted by an eligible participant within 28 days from the
date of the offer of grant of the option.

On 13 May 2022, an aggregate of 16,700,000 share options granted
under the Scheme to the eligible participants and the closing price
of the shares immediately before the date on which the options
were granted was HK$0.415. The fair values of the share options
granted to the eligible participants, which were the employees and
directors of the Company, were approximately RMB1,964,000 and
RMB 1,044,000 respectively.
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The movements in the Company’'s share options granted to the AERLHEEMERAQNRBRERZE - ==
eligible participants during the year ended 31 December 2023 were -+ - A=+—HItFEERZEFHMT :
as follows

Movement during the period

Brgs
Outstanding at Outstanding at
Exercise price 1 January 31 December
Date of grant HK$ 2023 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2023 Exercise period
R-B=-=% R-B=-=&
e -A-H T-A=t-8
REBH B HATE BRHE Bk B BAM HRE TEE
Category 1:
8o
Directors
EF
Zhuang Yuejin 13 May 2022 0.433 1,670,000 - - - - 1,670,000 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
i3 5 —Z--FnAt+=H —Z--FRAt+ZRZ
“Z-NFREATZA
Wong Ho Yin 13 May 2022 0.433 1,670,000 - - - (1,670,000) - 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
(resigned on —Z-_-_fRR+=H “Z--FRR+=RHE
18 October 2023) “E-WERA+ZH
BER(R-Z_Z=%F
TRATNBEH)
Xiao Suni 13 May 2022 0.433 1,670,000 - - - - 1,670,000 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
H Akl —2--fnAT=H “R--FTATZRZE
“E-MERATZH
Total 5,010,000 - - - (1,670,000) 3,340,000
@t
Category 2:
R
Employees 4 April 2019 2.500 4,800,000 - - - - 4,800,000 4 April 2019 to 3 April 2029
{3 “Z-NEEAMA ZZ-NFOAMAE
ZZZNEMAZH
12 May 2021 0.690 7,960,000 - - - (7,960,000) - 12 May 2021 to 11 May 2023
“E-—fRA+=H “R--¥RAtZB%
ZZZ=FRAT+-8
13 May 2022 0.433 11,690,000 - = B - 11,690,000 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
“T--%nAt=H —Z--FRAtZHE
“Z-MERATCA
Total 24,450,000 - - - (7,960,000) 16,490,000
@t
Total 29,460,000 - - - (9,630,000) 19,830,000
azt
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AUDITORS

Following the resignation of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
("HLB") as the auditor of the Company on 7 January 2022, Elite
Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) was appointed as the auditor
of the Company by the Board on the same day and to hold office
until the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the
Company.

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by Elite Partners whose
terms of office will expire upon the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Elite Partners as the auditor of the Company will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Board confirmed that there was no disagreement between HLB
and the Company. Save as disclosed above, there were no other
changes in auditor of the Company during the past three years.

On behalf of the Board

Zhuang Yuejin
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 31 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B 2B RS

elite
partners

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements
of China Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) set out on pages 47 to 135, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our
report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion
the consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

As disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements,
the Group acquired Loyal Brands International Limited and its
subsidiaries, including Grand York Limited, Giant Faith Holdings
Limited, AINXEZEBEHEER A F and AIIEEFEZERRER AT
(“Loyal Brands Group”), in May 2017. Loyal Brands Group principally
engaged in trading of food products.

In or around November 2023, the board of directors of the Company
(the “Board”) was informed by Mr. Wong Ho Yin, the former director
of the Company who resigned as the executive director of the
Company on 18 October 2023, that the business and accounting
records of Loyal Brands Group, including but not limited to sales
invoice, purchase invoice, accounting ledger and vouchers, were
unable to locate. The Board has also tried to contact the person-in-
charge of Loyal Brands Group (the “Responsible Staff”) through Mr.
Wong Ho Yin, but he was unable to (i) contact the Responsible Staff
and (ii) obtain the accounting books and records of Loyal Brands
Group.
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On 27 December 2023, Mr. Ng Chung Ho was appointed as an
executive director of the Company. Mr. Ng Chung Ho had thoroughly
searched all the files and documents kept in the office in Hong
Kong and was unable to locate any business and accounting records
for Loyal Brands Group. Mr. Ng Chung Ho also tried to contact
the Responsible Staff but unable to obtain positive response and
cooperation. Mr. Ng Chung Ho further contacted the director of
Loyal Brands Group but the director of Loyal Brands Group replied
that he did not have any accounting books and records of Loyal
Brands Group.

In light of the above circumstances, the Group considered it had lost
control over Loyal Brand Group and had excluded the consolidated
financial position of Loyal Brand Group as at and after and the
results and cash flows of Loyal Brand Group since 1 January 2023
from the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (the “Deconsolidation”).

Due to the insufficient supporting documents and relevant
explanations on (i) the accounting books and records in respect of
Loyal Brand Group and its operations (ii) the Deconsolidation, we
were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to satisfy
ourselves as to whether (i) the Deconsolidation of Loyal Brand Group
on 1 January 2023 and the loss on Deconsolidation of approximately
RMB6,470,000; (ii) the income and expenses for the years ended
31 December 2023; (i) the assets and liabilities as at 31 December
2023; and (iv) the segment information and other related disclosure
notes in relation to the Group, as included in the consolidated
financial statements of the Group, have been accurately recorded
and properly accounted for in the consolidated financial statements.

Any adjustments to the figures described above might have
a consequential effect on the Group’'s consolidated financial
performance and consolidated cash flows for the years ended 31
December 2023, the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2023 and the related disclosure thereof in the
consolidated financial statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA") and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the HKICPA and to issue an auditor’s report.
This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our
agreed terms of engagements, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. However, because of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report,
we were not able to form an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Leung Man Kin with Practising Certificate number
P07174.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 31 March 2024

Level 23, YF Life Tower,
33 Lockhart Road,
Wan Chai, Hong Kong

46 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

ERBEAMBREN EERENE BEES
FEgne LEERERTEERSEEEE
CEES:E Lx&@ﬂﬁiin,ﬂ%efﬁ SERE RIEE

EZEER EXRERRAIFULEZE HHEEGLE
REOBERITER-
EZZEQAREEE BE5ENUBRERE-

BBERETRE
B

MBRRAEEN

BANEERRBRETEEANAGHRMNELR
FHEAEEF ERENGAMBHRE LHAKE
A - NS ERBRMABEOBRGERA B
TERBEIFL BRIt 2N ABREREEMLE
e RMIAERARENARTAEMEMALA £
HAEAEEAEET - AN ERAREFTIERER
MERE PR IR HPIRERZFEAVTBER
RIEKEFER -

REEEEAMAGRANEXSHEMEETH
(AT TR - BMBLN BEXE YCEE

ISFRIFHEMEZERE

HARBYZEMBENRTHEEABAABRX
e EHEBERT APOI174

MTEEEdmERRmARAR
S ES -]

BB —E-_MF=A=+—H
BEET

B% 57 383355
EiBRRRAE232

ANNUAL REPORT 2023



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SERmREMEERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

2023 2022
—E-=F ===
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

log=3 AR®T R ARMBTT

Revenue PN 9 113,673 184,036
Cost of sales RN (82,878) (164,550)
Gross profit E7 30,795 19,486
Other net gain/(losses) Hipas (B1B)F5E 10 5,011 (19,132)
Selling and distribution costs HE D HEKA (3,837) (7,656)
Share of result of associates EIh B N R ¥AE (2,837) 297
Net allowance for expected credit losses TEHEEEEREFE 27,540 (27,228)
Administrative expenses TR X (20,745) (42,167)
Profit/(loss) from operations BESHERN, (FE) 11 35,927 (76,400)
Finance costs B & R A 12 (1,580) (2,070)
Profit/(loss) before tax BB ADERN S (FE) 34,347 (78,470)
Income tax expense TSR 13 (4,316) (88)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable RAREE AEML
to the owners of the Company FERA(BE) 30,031 (78,558)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued)
meaEsakAEMEERER (A)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —Eg=-=
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

i it ARBFTR ARBFIT
Profit/(loss) for the year FERRAN(BER) 30,031 (78,558)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) FEHtZmEUE (FX)

for the year, net of income tax: MBRFrSEL#&
Item that will not be reclassified to FTEEHPBEEERWER:

profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation RENEEEEZ2HEK 2

from functional currency to N ZER

presentation currency 1,985 5,771
Item that may be reclassified HeEsEmsBEBEEMWER:

subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translating MEBINEB ZIEN 58

foreign operations (1,552) (1,105)
Reclassification adjustment for the BIHGEE ABREBS AERZZ

cumulative exchange reserve included in 2 ENEREEN Y EREE

profit or loss upon the Deconsolidation 62 -
Total other comprehensive income FEHtMZEWRARE

for the year 495 4,666

Total comprehensive income/(expense) ZARQATEEABEFE

for the year attributable to the 2HEKE (BB
owners of the Company 30,526 (73,892)
RMB RMB
ARYE AR¥E
Earnings/(loss) per share SRER, (FHE)
Basic and diluted BERREE 74 17.15 cents &  (45.56) cents 7
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e I BEARRER
As at 31 December 2023
R-E-—=—Ff+—-_H=+—H

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment property
Right-of-use assets
Interests in associates
Deferred tax assets
Prepayments for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and bills receivables

Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Cash and bank balances

Total assets

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to the
owners of the Company
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity

RESENHEES A

BE
ERBEE

EN S
KEME

EREEE
REE R AR
ELERBEE
WEME BE R&EH
B HROR

RBEE

T8
FEWE 5 RA MR
BANRE e R

H Al YRR
BAFERBRIED
EMEE

e MRTTES

BEERR

R
FRRAFEEAREESRREE

B
8 5

R

Notes

iz

18
19
20
22
35

25

23
24

25

26
27

28
29

2023 2022
—E=-= —
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
19,010 24,052
3,777 4,133
6,323 8,978
5,874 10,801
- 3,826
58,155 -
93,139 51,790
21,447 23,158
73,310 144,569
24,127 43,057
27,368 19,319
26,043 25,324
172,295 255,427
265,434 307,217
3,643 3,643
148,549 118,023
152,192 121,666
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued)

mEMBRRE (F)

As at 31 December 2023
R-ZFZ=F1+=H=4+—H

LIABILITIES
Non-current liability
Lease liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade payables
Accruals and other payables
Contract liabilities
Bank borrowings

Lease liabilities
Tax payable

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Net current assets

Total assets less current liabilities

Net assets

Approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2024 and signed

on its behalf by:

Zhuang Yuejin

ERE
Director

EF

2023 2022
—E-=F —Eg=-=
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000

g3 AR®TR ARMET T

8&
ERBER
HEaRE 34 2,552 4,608
REBaE
JEHE SHFKIE 30 30,447 50,596
FEET B A I H b FE < 300E 37 12,580 18,120
EHEE 32 3,133 46,537
IRITIER 33 25,000 25,000
HEBE 34 2,020 2,754
S R IE 37,510 37,936
110,690 180,943
BEAR 113,242 185,551
EEREEARE 265,434 307,217
RBEEZRE 61,605 74,484
HEERRBEE 154,744 126,274
EEFRH 152,192 121,666

R-ZF-_ME=ZA=+HHEFEHAELHT
PIATREESE:

Ng Chung Ho
EE®E
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

BE Pl B Pl 6 B 52 AR 6 B TS TR RO AR BB D o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

At 1 January 2022

Loss for the year

Exchange difference on translating functional currency

to presentation currency
Exchange difference on translating
foreign operations

Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year

Share-based payment expenses
Exercise of share options
Lapse of share options

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023

Profit for the year

Exchange difference on translating functional currency

to presentation currency

Exchange difference on translating
foreign operations

Reclassification adjustment for the cumulative
exchange reserve included in profit or loss
upon Deconsolidation

Total comprehensive income for the year

Lapse of share options

At 31 December 2023

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

R-Z-—#—-F—H

FRER
BRENERBEZRAR L
ERER
REBNEBIELZR

FERENE/ (HR) B8

fetn i KB 3
TR E
BRERN

=¥-A—-H

FEER
BENREBE2RER L
ERZE
EEBIRBZELER
BitgA ARRE ABE 2 K5t
ERREENORRE

FERAMNGER

RBERY

R-B-=%+-A=t-AH

BEMTERP SE AR S H A M B MROARE S

FESEAHEEER QA

CHANGES IN EQUITY

Foreign
currency Share
Share Share Merger translation option Statutory  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses equity
SHeRE
R RAEE BbtfEE wE BRERS EERRE R ER REAER
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR
(note 29) (note 29) (note 29) (note 41) (note 29)
(#i#229) (Hi#29) (Hit29) (Hizt41) (Hi##29)
3,476 322,051 5,992 29,903 6,086 11,818 (189,618) 189,708
_ _ - = - - (78,558) (78,558)
- - - 5,771 - - - 5771
- - - (1,105) - - - (1,105)
- - - 4,666 - - (78,558) (73,892)
- - - - 3,008 - - 3,008
167 3,594 - - (919) - - 2,842
- - - - 7) - 7 -
3,643 325,645 5,992 34,569 8,168 11,818 (268,169) 121,666
- - - - = = 30,031 30,031
- - - 1,985 - - - 1,985
- - - (1,552) - - - (1,552)
- - - 62 - - = 62
- - - 495 - - 30,031 30,526
_ - - - (301) - 301 -
3,643 325,645 5,992 35,064 7,867 11,818 (237,837) 152,192
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

= AN B =
=] IE%/)ILE‘%%
For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE-—F-——F+-A=+—HIFE

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income
(Reversal of allowance)/allowance for
expected credit losses on trade receivables
Reversal of allowance for expected credit
losses on other receivables
Provision for impairment on interests
in associates

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation on investment property

Depreciation on right-of-use assets

Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Realised (gain)/loss on disposal of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss

Share of results of associates

Share-based payment expenses

Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Loss on Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

Operating cash flow before investments in
working capital changes
Decrease in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in trade and
bills receivables
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables
(Increase)/decrease in financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
(Decrease)/increase in trade payables
Increase in accruals and other payables
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities

Net cash generated from operations
Income tax paid

Net cash generated from operating activities

RETHELENRERE

BB AR R (ER)
AT BRIRELFE
B AR
B UWA
EWE 5 RAEANEMEE
B (BERR) BE
Hip AN TEMEE
BERERD
P&~ B RO R 5 R (B B 1

M BERRETE
REMEFE

EREEERE
BRATFEREBRIIENERHEE
MATE (ks EBE
HEEBRGERATAEIIRNESRE
BEEMNDER (R BE
Y NS -1

P A7) A5t 3R B S
HEME BB MREER

RIEREARMB AR N EE

il
Tl
I my
e
§oa o >
=
o]
s
&

k) e

ey mE
FER D
JEWE 5B R EE
A ()
TERIE ke R EHAM

EYRIER A (4 h0)
BERATFERBRIIENSREE
() R
B Z5E (R 18N
FERT B R K HEL i B IR B N
aHaRAEORD) Em

REMSHEFR

EERNFES L

RETHMSHEE TR

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

2023 2022
—E=-= —F=-=

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T
34,347 (78,470)
1,580 2,070
(67) (50)
(26,446) 29,898
(1,094) (2,670)
2,358 4,396
1,469 3,404
356 152
2,418 2,938
(6,349) 20,354
(568) 570
2,837 (297)
= 3,008
4,697 9,986
6,470 -
22,008 4,711)
1,711 7,435
82,258 (17,134)
19,859 (11,007)
(585) 416
(19,975) 9,985
2,161 4,693
(42,606) 16,530
64,831 6,207
(330) (53)
64,501 6,154
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

RERTRER (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
=z ZFEF A=A —HIFFE

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Interest received

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Prepayment for acquisition of property,
plant and equipment

Proceeds from disposal of property,
plant and equipment

Net cash outflow from deconsolidation
of subsidiaries

Net cash used in investing activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bank borrowings
Proceeds from issue of shares upon
exercising of share options
Repayment of bank borrowings
Repayment of interest on borrowings
Repayment of capital element of
lease liabilities
Repayment of interest on lease liabilities

Net cash used in financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and
cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the
beginning of the year

Effect of foreign currency exchange
rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
BEMMEIPT s AR Sima MR mMAKR LD -
hESEABEEASR QA

RETHELENREERE

RS
BEME BENMRE
WEME  BE RRE
B ROR
HEME  BEERERFHIA

BIGRA ARMB L
WEm i FRE

BIELH

REDHMAEEFE

RETHEENRAESRE

SRATIE AT B A
70 PR S 5 T AR A9 45 20
BB RITEHR

B8 1 3R 8
R R O EAES

)

D]}

)

0]

)

BEEMEEREBENE
BMELTHARSFRE
RERBREEEN

@, (L) R
REDNRERASEEY

ShsEE R BN PR

RELKNBRERASEEY

2023 2022
—E=-= —EF-—
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ET T ARET T
67 50
(1,128) (900)
(58,155) b
4 44
(61) =
(59,273) (806)
25,000 45,000
= 2,842
(25,000) (50,000)
(1,293) (1,500)
(2,547) (2,633)
(287) (570)
(4,127) (6,861)
1,101 (1,513)
25,324 24,583
(382) 2,254
26,043 25,324
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE
1.

54

ZFT A= —HIEFE
GENERAL INFORMATION

China Automotive Interior Decoration Holdings Limited (the
“Company”) was a public limited company incorporated in
Cayman Islands on 9 December 2009 as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law (2000 Revision)
of the Cayman Islands, and its shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Its ultimate controlling party
is Mr. Zhuang Yuejin, who is also the Chairman and Managing
Director of the Company. The addresses of the registered office
and principal place of business of the Company are disclosed in
the corporate information section to the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and
sale of nonwoven fabric related products used in automotive
interior decoration parts and other parts, trading of rubber and
food products.

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
("HKD"). However, the consolidated financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"), as the directors of the
Company consider that RMB is the functional currency of
the primary economic environment in which most of the
Group's transactions are denominated and settled in and
this presentation is more useful for its current and potential
investors. The consolidated of financial statements are
presented in thousands of Renminbi ("RMB’000"), unless
otherwise stated.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

—REH

CPI?%EW%E@EKE A([RRA) R
RBZERAF RZZZAFT-_ANAR
BEREBHER Tﬁ&( ETEFRIRHA=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

2.1 New and amendments to HKFRSs that

are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 for
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and
February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to Definition of Accounting
HKAS 8 Estimates

Amendments to Deferred Tax related to
HKAS 12 Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction

Amendments to International Tax Reform —
HKAS 12 Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to Disclosure of Accounting
HKAS 1 and HKFRS Policies
Practice Statement 2

Except for described below, the application of other new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.

Impacts on the application of Amendments
to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

In accordance with the guidance set out in the
amendments, accounting policy information that is
standardised information, or information that only
duplicates or summarises the requirements of the
HKFRSs, is considered immaterial accounting policy
information and is no longer disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements so as not to obscure
the material accounting policy information disclosed in
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

RESENHEES A

2.

ERAMIREEITEEBMBRE
ZA([EEMBHREEA])

2.1 REFERHERNHTRES

R EBM RS ER

RAFE NEBERREGESPBR
REXERTIHEESTMAE ([F
BEHMAG)BHIR_T_=F
— A — B 2% 56 1 5 E B 9
EREAHAI REE BBV B REE
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EEUBRELENEITR  RREY
(BHE-Z-ZE+AR
TR ZHEZ AMBEIA)
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EESHENELS  EERARE-
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ERHEARIRR  RHEAORE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND 2. ERHITRKLETEBIMKER
AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG HEA ([EEMBREEN])
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (%)

("HKFRSs") (Continued)

2.2 Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

22 EEMEEKRER ZEBITER
Bt 75 3R & 22 R

The Group has not early applied the following REBEEAKREAKNATE BEMHE

amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are
not yet effective:

AT MBI BB B R

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets BAGER BEFEREEE
HKAS 28 and between an Investor and its FE28HFE R EE RAEEE
HKFRS 10 Associate or Joint Venture? B RS 3R 2B 7R

1055 (BT A) BEHESIA

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and BB REER ERMALF R
HKFRS 16 Leaseback’ E165% (17T A) HEEE

Amendment to Classification of Liabilities as BEQENF I BEEIEA
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current’ (1BFTA) TESIETRE

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with BRI ENFE IR WEZED
HKAS 1 Covenants' (1BFTA) FERBER

Amendments to Supplier Finance BESHEAFETRE HEFRELH
HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Arrangements' BEAEMBRELER

F75 (BFTAX)
Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability? BRGF ARSI Bz A iR

HKAS 21

L effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024. JE BRI A Ak

2 effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2 REZTE_RAF—A— B ZERBHTF
2025. & HAR AR

3 effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 3 REFTE B Bsk 2 & F 8 60 [ B AR
determined.

The Directors anticipate that the application of all EEEAERAMALETEENBR

amendments to HKFRSs will not have material impact on HEEBTEHAER B RNEGEESHB

the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable WRBERATE

future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Be2—F-_—Ff+-_A=+—HIFEF

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs, which is a collective term
that includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by
the HKICPA, and accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, information is considered material if
such information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, vales otherwise stated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company has power over the investee; is exposed, or has rights
to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMB|RME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

=z =FF A=+ —HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Subsidiaries

58

Subsidiaries are all entities (including special purpose entities)
over which the Group has the power to govern the financial
and operating policies generally accompanying a shareholding
of more than one half of the voting rights. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group
controls another entity.

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving a dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets including
goodwill.

Investment in associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over these policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting.

The financial statements of associates used for equity
amounting purposes are prepared using uniform amounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances.

Under the equity method, an investment in an associate is
initially recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group’s share of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the associate. When the Group’s share of losses of
an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that associate,
the Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fade)

PR MY ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE
4.

ZFT A= —HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Investment in associates (Continued)

An investment in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an
associate. On acquisition of the investment in an associate, any
excess of the cost of the investment over the Group's share of
the net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the
investee is recognised as goodwill, which is included within the
carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group's
share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the cost of the investment, after reassessment, is
recognised immediately in profit or loss in the period in which
the investment is acquired.

The Group assesses whether there is objective evidence that
the interest in an associate may be impaired. When any
objective evidence exists, the requirements of HKAS 36 are
applied to determine whether it is necessary to recognize any
impairment loss with respect to the Group's investment in an
associate. When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the
investment (including goodwill, if any) is tested for impairment
in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” as a
single asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of value in use and fair value less cost of disposal) with its
carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms part
of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36
to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group,
profits or losses resulting from the transactions with the
associate are recognised in the Group's consolidated financial
statements only to the extent of interests in the associate that
are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good (or a bundle of
goods) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods that are
substantially the same.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the relevant performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

o the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group's performance as the
Group performs;

o the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

For contracts that contain more than one performance
obligation, the Group allocates the transaction price to each
performance obligation on a relative stand-alone selling price
basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at
contract inception. It represents the price at which the Group
would sell a promised good or service separately to a customer.
If a stand-alone selling price is not directly observable, the
Group estimates it using appropriate techniques such that
the transaction price ultimately allocated to any performance
obligation reflects the amount of consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring the
promised goods or services to the customer.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Sale of goods

Manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric related
products and supply and procurement operation

Revenue from manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric
related products and supply and procurement operation are
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being
at the point the products are delivered to the customer and the
customer has accepted the products, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of
the products. Delivery occurs when the products have been
shipped to the specified location, the risks of obsolescence
and loss have been transferred to the customer, and either the
customer has accepted the products in accordance with the
sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the
Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance
have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers accept the products, as this is the point in
time that the consideration is unconditional because only the
passage of time is required before the payment is due. The
normal credit term is 30 to 120 days upon delivery. Payment is
advance is required for some contracts.

Leases
The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of office premise that have a lease term of 12 months
or less from the commencement date and do not contain a
purchase option. Lease payments on short-term leases are
recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or another
systematic basis over the leases term.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant
and equipment, using the straight-line method, over their
estimated useful lives. The principal useful lives are as follows:

Building 30 years
Plant and machinery 12 years
Motor vehicles 8 years
Furniture and fixtures 6 years
Leasehold improvements 5 years

The useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed and
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate amounted for on a
prospective basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Transfer from owner-occupied property to
investment property carried at fair value

If a property becomes an investment property because its use
has changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any
difference between the carrying amount and the fair value
of that item (including the relevant leasehold land classified
as right-of-use assets) at the date of transfer is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation
reserve. On the subsequent sale or retirement of the property,
the relevant revaluation reserve will be transferred directly to
retained profits.

Investment properties

Investment properties measured using the cost
model

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties also include leased properties which are
being recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the
Group under operating leases.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful
lives and after taking into account of their estimated residual
value, using the straight-line method.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of investment
property, using the straight-line method, over its estimated
useful life. The principal useful life is as follows:

Building 30 years

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average basis.
The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises
raw materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
all production overhead expenditure, and where appropriate,
subcontracting charges.
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64

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, investment property and right-
of-use assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews
the carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment,
investment property and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order
to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
of an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating units (the “CGU") to which
the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated
to individual CGU, or otherwise they are allocated to the
smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised
estimated of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that
are never taxable and deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
deductible temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of the
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the tax profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates

that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)

that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of

the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and
of allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments (including all
fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

3 the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash

flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI"):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), except that at the
date of initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may
irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value
of an equity investment in other comprehensive income if that
equity investment is neither held for trading nor contingent
consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business
combination to which HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations”
applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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68

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised
cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the
financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as FVTOCI
are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains” line item.

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit losses (“ECL") model on financial assets which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (including
trade receivables, bill receivables, deposit and other receivables,
and cash and bank balances). The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fade)

PR MY ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE
4.

ZFT A= —HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument.
In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting period.
Assessment are done based on the Group's historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors,
general economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast
of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financial component. The ECL on these
assets are assessed individually for debtors with significant
balances and collectively using a provision matrix with
appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of
a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

2= ZFfZA=F—HIFE
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit
risk before the amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(c)  the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e)  the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over 180 days past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation of
ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that
is determined with the respective risks of default occurring as
the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

For collective assessment the Group takes into consideration
the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade and other receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a
loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as liabilities or equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including bank borrowings, trade payables,
accruals and other payables) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE T _=—F+_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies s

4. EESFBE(E)

74

I

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
companies now comprising the Group are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the company operates (the “functional currency”).
The consolidated financial statements are presented
in RMB, which is the Company’s presentation currency
and the functional currency of the principal operating
subsidiary of the Group. The functional currency of the
Company is HKD. The directors consider that choosing
Renminbi as the presentation currency best suits the
needs of the shareholders and investors.

i.

DEREFEH

REARAEBRE AR ZHBREA
EHEDNEARAREZTIERBERE
MER([ThEEEB A E-HAHMK
BEAAREZY) BARB 2258
BUARAEETIEZRLEWMBRRZI
EEER -ARAWIEEBRETL &
ERR BEARBIERAZNER IR
REARRRKEENTL-

ii. Transactions and balances ii. XZBREE
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the INERZGURGBHBITERBRER
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at MeEEB - REENZSEXHRIZRFER
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and EEXBMELIINBHECEBKEERS
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions BEzINEWzE REBERGEERLE
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of fth 2 R IER
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets #ﬁ’% TREERAGBZHREZER
and liabilities are reported as part of their fair value gain oA FEREKEBAR:
or loss.

iii. Group companies iii. FEAR A

The results and financial positions of all the companies
now comprising the Group (none of which has the
currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(@) Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing
rate;

(b) Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates; and

(c)  All resulting exchange differences are recognised as
a separate component of equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

2= ZFfZA=F—HIFE
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

iii. Group companies (Continued)
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations,
and of borrowings and other currency instruments
designated as hedges of such investments, are taken
to owners’ equity. When a foreign operation is sold,
exchange differences that were recorded in equity are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income as part of the gain or
loss on sale.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group's net assets in HKD to the Group's presentation
currency (i.e. RMB) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in foreign
currency translation reserve. Such exchange differences
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve
are not reclassified to profit or loss subsequently.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@) cash, which comprises of cash on hand demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory
restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting
the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to
a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents
as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group's
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term
borrowings in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

4.

76

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money
is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.

Employee benefits
(i) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual
leave and long service leave as a result of services
rendered by employees up to the end of the reporting
period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.
(ii) Pension obligations
The Group contributes to defined contribution
retirement schemes which are available to all employees.
Contributions to the schemes by the Group and
employees are calculated as a percentage of employees’
basic salaries. The retirement benefit scheme cost charged
to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the funds.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only
when, the Group demonstrably commits itself to
terminate employment or to provide benefits as a result
of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal plan

which is without realistic possibility of withdrawal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
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4.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Share-based payment arrangements
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees and others

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the
equity instruments at the grant date. Details regarding the
determination of the fair value of equity-settled share-based
transactions are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial
statements.

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity. At the end of each reporting
period, the Group revises its estimate of the number of equity
instruments expected to vest. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with
a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the
vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be
transferred to retained profits/accumulated losses. For share
options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair
value of the share options granted is recognised immediately to
profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the
Group's most senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group's various lines of business and geographical locations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

2= ZFfZA=F—HIFE
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Segment reporting (Continued)

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar economic
characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of
products and services, the nature of production processes,
the type of class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of the
regulatory environment. Operating segments which are not
individually material may be aggregated if they share a majority
of these criteria.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(1) A person or entity is preparing the financial statements of
the Group;

(2) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(3) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

HE—FE- A= —AIFE
4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. EESHHE(£)
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(3) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

RERS (&)
) ETIEEBLT —HEERG[E
rEBARE: (&)

v ERBDNVAAEEFEAREESFRH
ZEENEBBMNAKBERRSE
Mt sl - HAREASRABE
AlEEREAEEERE-

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) EBEBRBXQAMATEATIEDLER
person identified in (2). P o

(vii) A person identified in (2)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or the Group's parent.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS

In the application of the Group's material accounting policies
which are described in note 4, the directors of the Company
are required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRERME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Allowance for expect credit losses of trade
and other receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement at amortised cost in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group'’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and
inputs used together with the carrying amount of expected
credit loss as at 31 December 2023 are disclosed in note 6.

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment, investment property and right-
of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment, investment property and right-
of-use assets are stated at costs less accumulated depreciation
and impairment, if any. In determining whether an asset is
impaired, the Group has to exercise judgment and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has
occurred or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2)
whether the carrying value of an asset can be supported by
the recoverable amount, in the case of value in use, the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated based
upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate
key assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable
amounts including cash flow projections and an appropriate
discount rate, changing the assumptions and estimates,
including the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow
projections, could materially affect the net present value used
in the impairment test.

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of property,
plant and equipment, investment property and right-of-
use assets are approximately RMB19,010,000, approximately
RMB3,777,000 and approximately RMB6,323,000 respectively,
no impairment losses were recognised during the year
ended 31 December 2023. Details of the property, plant and
equipment, investment property and right-of-use assets are
disclosed in notes 18, 19 and 20 respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fade)

PR MY ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE
5.

ZFT A= —HIEFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

Write down of inventories

The Group write down the inventories based on an assessment
of the net realisable value of inventories. Write down are
applied to inventories where events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the net realisable value is lower than the cost
of inventories. The identification of slow-moving stock and
obsolete inventories requires the use of judgement and
estimates on the conditions and usefulness of the inventories.

Impairment of interests in associates

The management of the Group carries out review on
impairment on the interests in associates whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may
not be recoverable by comparing its recoverable amount (higher
of the value in use and fair value less cost of disposal) with its
carrying amount.

In determining whether the interests in associates is impaired,
it requires an estimation of its recoverable amount, which
represents higher of the value in use and fair value less cost
of disposal (market value). For the value in use, it requires
the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the operations of the investment and from the ultimate
disposal, and a discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. Where the recoverable amount of the Group’s interest in
an associate is less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss may arise.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the management
concluded that there was impairment loss on interests in an
associates of approximately RMB2,358,000 as the recoverable
amount of the interest in associates was lower than the
carrying amount.

RESENHEES A

5.

TESR AR RAE (&)

7 & fifUm

AREBERBEHFENE fﬁ@@ﬁ’hﬂﬁ#ﬂmﬂ_
B WAEEHABREHERFEN R F
BEERKA E'J//éﬂ? Lﬁ%(ﬁ wm/’%*
HRREFEAHFERAEEE A AET
H B RS E o

REE QRS ZRE
MELEEMHRBERNEB BN ELREM(EREE

EEE NEEEEBRNBE AR ZE
sETRERS  ERBETRE S (£
REEEAFEREERAZREE) B
REEFLR-

EMEARZMBRTHAAE HFE
fi 5t 3P U1 2 9 (B0 2 PR (R (B B2 A F AL
AR 2 BB E (H1E)) < 508 B EET
= ORBREARMYHABBLRRE L LS
BB 8 2 KRR S B b R AT

{’Fﬁﬁéﬂ‘ﬁ HHRE-MAEER —HEHE
NEEZ A WE S BEEAERTEE BT A
eHBRESBE-

REBEEZZE-_=F+-A=+—HLFE"
EEERA AR —HEBEL R s EEm2H
WESBERNKREE Bt — Mg QA
ZEmBEEELN A ARY2,358000T

—E_=FH

81



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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PR MY ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Be2—F-_—Ff+-_A=+—HIFEF

6.

82

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

Financial assets: cREE:
Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Financial assets at amortised cost

TREE

TERAME:
BN

Financial liabilities:
Amortised cost

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign currency risk and
fair value interest rate risks and price risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects

on the Group’s financial performance.

Management regularly manages the financial risks of the
Group. Because of the simplicity of the financial structure
and the current operations of the Group, no major

hedging activities are undertaken by management.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the

manner in which it manages and measures the risks.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fade)

PR MY ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023
SEf A —AULEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk
Foreign currency risk

BE
6.

(i)

(ii)

Exposure to foreign currency risk

The Group mainly operates in the People’s Republic
of China (the "PRC”) and Hong Kong and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from
various currency exposures, primarily with respect to
Renminbi (“RMB"), Hong Kong dollars (“"HKD") and
United States dollars (“USD"). Foreign exchange
risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities and net investments
in foreign operations. The management do not
expect the net foreign currency risk from these
activities to be significant and hence, the Group and
the Company do not presently hedge the foreign
exchange risks. The Group and the Company
periodically review liquid assets and liabilities held
in currencies other than the functional currencies
of the respective subsidiaries to evaluate its foreign
exchange risk exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the
need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had
minimal exposure to foreign currency risk with
respect to HKD as it is the functional currencies of
the respective subsidiaries in which their business
transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated.
Thus, no sensitivity analysis of HKD is presented.

At 31 December 2023, if USD had strengthened/
weakened by 5% (2022: 5%) against RMB with
all other variables held constant, the Group’s
profit for the year and total equity would have
been approximately RMB455,000 (2022: loss of
RMB499,000) higher/lower, mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on USD-denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_FE_—Ff+ _H=+—HIFE
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives
and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
Interest rate risk

6.

84

(i)

(ii)

Exposure to interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rate relates primarily to its interest-
bearing bank borrowings. Interest-bearing bank
borrowings at floating rates expose the Group to
interest rate risk.

The Group has not used any interest rate swaps to
hedge its exposure to interest rate risk. However,
the management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate
exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

At 31 December 2023, if interest rates at the date
had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s profit for
the year would increase/decrease by RMB250,000
(2022: loss of RMB250,000). This is mainly
attributable to the Group's exposure as result of
increase/decrease in interest expense on bank
borrowings net off with interest income from bank
deposits.

Other price risk

(i)

Exposure to other price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk mainly
through its investment. The Group currently
does not have a hedging policy in respect of the
risk exposure. In addition, the management of
the Group would monitor the price risk and will
consider hedging the risk exposure should the need
arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

6. &I H(£)
(b) B¥EREEEEREE (&)

and policies (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)
Other price risk (Continued)

(i)  Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined
based on the exposure to price risk of financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss at the
end of the reporting period. If the prices of the
financial assets at FVTPL (listed securities) had
been 10% higher/lower, profit/loss would increase/
decrease by approximately RMB2,737,000 (2022:
RMB1,932,000).

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The carrying amount of the bank balances, trade, bills
and other receivables included in the consolidated
statement of financial position represents the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to the
Group's financial assets.

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide
for ECL prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use
of lifetime ECL provision for all trade receivables. To
measure the ECL, trade receivables have been grouped
based on shared credit risk characteristics. The Group
has performed historical analysis and identified the key
economic variables impacting credit risk and ECL. It also
considers available reasonable and supportive forward-
looking information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. ERITA (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives (b) B¥EREEEEREE(£)

and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment EEmBER B ETE (E)
(Continued)
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management AREREEERR FEEEEED
of the Group has delegated a team responsible for ErTEFABERACEEEE FE#EZ
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other B oAt BE SR AZ - B R BR BN BR A 1 B LA
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is e B EE I AEBER SRS
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group HAREHNSENEZEENITKE S
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual debt at R AR & BB L R E R
the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate BEEE-REME ARFAEEZRRAR
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In FENEERBRD KEEE-

this regard, the directors of the Company consider that
the Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.

The Group has certain exposure to credit risk as the AEEEGRETEERRB BR_F
trade receivables from the five largest customers as at Z=EF+ A=+ —BEREXREFR
31 December 2023 represented 66% (2022: 81%) of WESREBELEREKE S RIBELFED
total trade receivables, while 36% (2022: 45%) of the 66% (T - —F:81%)  mEKEx
total trade receivables were due from the largest single ARE-—RPHWESREBEBLHERE FHK
customer. It has policies in place to ensure that sales are THAFERIZ36% (T - ZF :45%) °
made to customers with an appropriate credit history. HEeBmBEURREEHRAAER

EREETHENER -

0to 91 to 181 days Over
At 31 December 2023 90 days 180 days  to 365 days 365 days Total
R=B=-=%+=-A=+-H 0Z90H K 91Z1808 181H Z365H 365A M £ @it
ECL rate BHEEEHEX 0.2% 0.02% 34.7% 100% 15.8%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) REEE(ARETT) 55,727 5,230 14,234 8,079 83,270
Lifetime ECL (RMB'000) 2HEHEERSE
(AEBTRT) (93) (1) (4,943) (8,079) (13,116)
55,634 5,229 9,291 - 70,154
0to 91 to 181 days Over
At 31 December 2022 90 days 180 days to 365 days 365 days Total
RZZZZ5+ZR=+—H 0Z90A X 91E180H 181HZ365H 365 war
ECL rate BHEEBER 0.7% 0.9% 64.6% 100% 23.7%
Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) EEAE(ARETT) 58,200 80,308 10,423 36,084 185,015
Lifetime ECL (RMB'000) 2HBHEEER
(AEETT) (391) (710) (6,734) (36,084) (43,919)
57,809 79,598 3,689 - 141,096

86 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_FE_—Ff+ _H=+—HIFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

6. €®MTH (&)
(b) BIHEAREEEERKE (&)

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, trade receivables that
are individually significant have been separately assessed
for impairment. The Group makes periodic assessments
on the recoverability of the receivables based on the
background and reputation of the customers, historical
settlement records and past experience, and also
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportive forward-looking information.

Other receivables

For other receivables, the directors of the Company make
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables based on historical settlement records,

past experience, and also quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportive forward-

looking information.

The movement of loss allowances for other receivables

during the year are as follows:

=B A B R 6 18 1 ()
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—t+—B 2BEEANEANERE S K

ROeERETREN G ARERER
FESNIEBE BEFEETHIBER
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1Bt E BT o
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BEEECLS BIERARBREE
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T

EMBEREZS N

Other receivables

H i fE W FhE

RMB’'000

ARET T

At 1 January 2022 M-—B-—%—A—0 4,034

Reversal of allowance for ECL TR EEEERERD (2,670)
At 31 December 2022 and RZEZZF+ZA=+—HEK

1 January 2023 —E-=F—A—H 1,364

Reversal of allowance for ECL TEEEEEEEERD (1,094)

At 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=F+=HF=+—H 270

Besides, the management is of opinion that there is
no significant increase in credit risk on these other
receivables since initial recognition as the risk of default
is low and, thus, ECL recognised is based on 12m ECL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. ST A (&)

(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment
(Continued)

Bank balances

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because the
counterparties are international and state-owned banks
with good reputation. Based on the loss rates, the ECL
is considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risk associated with its
financial assets.

Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity
requirements in the short and longer term. The Group
manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves,
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows
and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and
liabilities.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The tables below have been drawn up based on
the contractual maturities of the undiscounted financial
liabilities including interest that will accrue to those
liabilities except where the Group are entitled and intends
to repay the liability before its maturity.

The maturity analysis for other non-derivative financial
liabilities is prepared based on the scheduled repayment
dates.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

(b) MBEBREEERREEK (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives

and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
At 31 December 2023

Non-derivative financial liabilities {14 ¢HEAE

Trade payables ERESHE

Accruals and other payables FREGIEY d Fe
Bank borrowings HITfER

Lease liabilities HERE

At 31 December 2022

Non-derivative financial liabilities Jf74&BEE

Trade payables ERE S8

Accruals and other payables Bt EAREMEMNTE
Bank borrowings RITIER

Lease liabilities HERE

RESENHEES A

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
L B
ERA=

%

N/AFRiE A
N/ATE A
4.35%
5.09%

Weighted
average
effective
interest rate
IEFH
BERA=E
%

N/A T8 B
NATEE
4.42%
5.03%

6. &I H(£)
(b) B¥EREEEEREE (&)

nBELmEE (&)
R-ZB-Z=F+=A=+—H
Over
On demand 1yearbut Over 2 years Total Total
or within less than  but less than  undiscounted carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
EERH —F0E MEAL AERRE
PR-F BOIREE BLREE REEH REAE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR AR®TR
30,447 - - 30,447 30,447
12,580 - - 12,580 12,580
25,517 - - 25,517 25,000
2,075 1,384 1,458 4,917 4,572
70,619 1,384 1,458 73,461 72,599
R-BE-_—_F+_-_A=+—H
Over
On demand 1 year but Over 2 years Total Total
or within less than  but less than  undiscounted carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years cash flow amount
EEXRK —FLE MFAE REBRE
LR—F BORBE BIRAEF MELR REZE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT ARBFT
50,596 - - 50,596 50,596
18,120 - - 18,120 18,120
25,521 - - 25,521 25,000
3,049 2,160 2,792 8,001 7,362
97,286 2,160 2,792 102,238 101,078
—EC=FH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMWEE (&

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. £WIH (&)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (c) EMIEZRAFE

6.

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

(i) the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities (including financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss) with standard terms and
conditions and traded on active liquid markets are
determined with reference to quoted market bid
prices and ask prices respectively;

(i) the fair value of financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss are calculated using quoted
prices. Where such prices are not available, a
discounted cash flow analysis is performed using
the applicable yield curve for the duration of the
instrument for non-optional derivatives;

(iii)  the fair value of other financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding those described above) are
determined in accordance with generally pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

At 31 December 2023

CREENEREBZIAFEDZMN

TEE:

(i) BEBEBGERRGERRIERR
HMEEENCREERERA
B(BREAFERERIIEDN
EREE)  DHARZERBTS
BEAERBLEEERFE:

(i) MOAFERBRIENEREE
B RFERABREBE MK
REESHEBER RIREMED
ETAZFHERBEREE R
EEMBRBEE RN

(i) HMEBMEEREBREBENAF
B (AP FRRSN) THERREER
ReRnoTRE-—REEBRAE

o

R-B==%+=pA=+-H

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Bl — HAEI= FB= a&t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®Tr AR®TR AR¥TR
Financial assets EWMEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BAFEREZIEN
EREE 27,368 - - 27,368
CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRERME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2023
FE_—FEf A= —HILFE

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 6. E®WMIH (&)
(c) Fair value of financial instruments (c) SMIBAZAFE(E)

(Continued)

Fair value measurements recognised in the REEHBMEEZERZ R FETE

consolidated statement of financial position (%)

(Continued)

At 31 December 2022 RZE-_=—F+=-A=+—8H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Rl — v &A= A&

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTIT ARBTIT ARBTT ARBTET

Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at FVTPL BRATFERERIED
TREE 19,319 - - 19,319
Fair value
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy Basis of fair value
SREE RTHAHNATE AYESR AYEEE
31/12/23 31/12/22 RMB'000
—ECZE —E-CF
+=A=+-H +ZR=+—H ARBTTL
1) Financial assets at FVTPL Listed equity Listed equity ~ Level 1 Quoted bid price in
securities securities an active market
RMB27,368,000 RMB19,319,000
1) BRATERBRIENEREE EHRAE S EHREES  REI— NERTSHNRE
AR %27,368,000T AE#19,319,0007C
The directors of the Company consider that the carrying RARBIEERRA e BmENRE
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities carried HAATENeRMEERERBAD
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements FEHEREEATEES-

approximate to their fair values.

FESEAHEEER QA ZEZZ=F8H 9



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

W

BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE
7.

92

ZFT A= —HIEFE
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group's overall strategy
remains unchanged for the years ended 31 December 2022
and 2023.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt (which
includes bank borrowings and lease liabilities) and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued
capital and reserves. The directors of the Company review
the capital structure on a continuous basis. As part of this
review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks
associated with capital. Based on recommendations of the
directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the issuance of new shares as well as the addition of
new borrowings.

Gearing ratio

The gearing ratio at 31 December 2023 and 2022 were as
follows:

Debt &%
Total equity ey R
Gearing ratio ARBREEE

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

EXERER

REBERAEERN UHRAEEANXEE
ﬁﬁ%’lii‘“i«“‘* ] B 71 335 48 (2 ML (5 TR B4
w2 VE RRRFBESLR-BE—
TCFERIBC=Ft A=t -HLFE"
AEE B R R N o

]

f

/M e

AEBZEARBRFER (BRRITER
EREERE)ARARA T%ﬁﬁ/\)ﬂﬁﬁém(

?EE%*??EZIK&1§%1%) ARREBETEIR
MEARB RN MO EFERE
$ﬁk$&é$$ﬁf‘%ﬂl§“°$¢lﬂﬂﬁ%ﬁ%$
ZERBBETHRINEET FTHEE
BERER-

EXAEF/ELER

RZEZ=FR-_TE-_—_F+=-_A=+—H
MERBELERNT

2023 2022
—Eg2-= —_=__
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T ARBTT
29,572 32,362
152,192 121,666
19.4% 26.6%
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
=z ZFEF A=A —HIFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION 8.

Information reported to the Directors being the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM"), for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on
the types of goods delivered.

The Group's operating and reportable segments are as follows:

(i)  the manufacture and sale of nonwoven fabric related
products used in automotive interior decoration parts and
other parts; and

(i) the supply and procurement operation segment including
trading of rubber and food products.

Segment revenue and results

Supply and
procurement operation
HERRBEY
2023 2022
—EC=E =
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMTR  ARETR

2 EER

MEE(MI2LERRE ([EELLERK
EFDIERUSEEREFN G BRANE
B BEMMNESmER -

REBENKERFT2HD AT

(i) %L&ﬂé}%ﬁﬁ VAER ﬁfﬂ—“F&Ei\‘rlﬂ%B
7 B 4 47 o AR R EE ¢

(i) HERRBEEDIH(BEREELRBR

E'd:u:l °

DR A R EE

Manufacture and sale of
nonwoven fabric related

products Total

HERHERGHEBER &it
2023 2022 2023 2022
—ECZE “E--f% —EC-ZE —E-CF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTRE  ARETT AR¥TR  ARETR

Segment revenue: AHEWA

Sales to external customers HETHMIERP - 13,184 113,673 170,852 113,673 184,036
Segment results PHEE (6,467) (3,785) 9,597 (42,949) 3,130 (46,734)
Unallocated corporate income FOBAFRA 39,021 1,792
Unallocated corporate expenses AARDARY (6,224) (31,458)
Profit/(loss) from operations mEEs/ (5 35,927 (76,400)
Finance costs BAMA (1,580) (2,070)
Profit/(loss) before tax BERAER/ (B8) 34,347 (78,470)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated
from external customers. There were no inter-segment sales for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

RESENHEES A

LA E 2D BURATIREINBE L EIUA ©
HE T -_=ZFR-_ZT-_"F+-A=+—
ALEFETESIDEUA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

W

BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE
8.

94

ZFT A= —HIEFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)

8.

Segment results represent the profit/(loss) from each segment
without allocation of interest income, fair value gain/(loss) on
financial assets at FVTPL, share of results of associates and
central operating expenses including staff costs, finance costs
and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the
CODM for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment

of segment performance.

Segment assets and liabilities

ASSETS EE

Segment assets NHEE
Unallocated corporate assets ROBRDAEE
Total assets EERE
LIABILITIES a8

Segment liabilities AHaE
Unallocated corporate liabilities RAARARERE

Total liabilities AERE

Supply and
procurement operation
HERRBEY

2023 2022
—BCCE “E-CF
RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETT
9,638 24,464
1,143 3,446

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

DEER (F)
DEWBRAREE (E)
DEWEBHERLEDEFEWA - RDFE
NEHIENEREEZATERSE (B
B) EBEBEAREERTRITHER (B
BEIXAE BERKRAEHFH)NER
S S BENER, (BE) AT ELE

_|

REEZBUDBER KT ED BRANEG
BEE-
THEERARE

Manufacture and sale of
nonwoven fabric related

products Total
HERHERGARBER &t
2023 2022 2023 2022
Bk —E-CF —EBC=E —E-CF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AR¥ETR AREFT ARETR ARETL
220,075 254127 229,713 278,591
35,721 28,626
265,434 307,217
75,018 145,823 76,161 149,269
37,081 36,282
113,242 185,551
ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
=z ZFEF A=A —HIFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and

allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to reportable segment other than
corporate financial assets including financial assets at
FVTPL, interest in an associate and corporate cash and

bank balances.

- all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other
than corporate financial liabilities including accruals and

other payables.

Other segment information

The following is the analysis of the Group’s other segment

information:

Amounts included in the AR BEFREES
measure of segment profitor 2 HEEENFE
loss or segment assets

Capital expenditure ERRX

Depreciation of property, n¥ BELRRETE
plant and equipment

Depreciation on right-of-use assets  FAEEENE

(Reversal of allowance)/allowance ~ GLIEWE HRIBRERLN
for expected credit losses BHCERS (BE
recognised on trade receivables, net  B[E) /& FE

Reversal of allowance for expected 3t E M AR RN
credit losses recognised on other  BHIEEHREE

receivables, net BEEE

Loss on disposal of property, HENE BE R
plant and equipment HREEE

Loss on deconsolidation KIERAAENBAR
of subsidiaries HER

RESENHEES A

DERER (&)
PTEHEEREE (£ )

RERDBRERRD

D EPE D REIR :

- KBRrAzmEE (BERAFERER
FIRM SR EE N E A RN EE R

NERE MIRT]
DTEEAZ

i&/\4

‘RN FRBEEBEN

- KornzmaE(eREFERREM

e 3

R

ZaiE

Hit o HEHR
AT RAKENEMDEBEH D :

Manufacture and sale of

KB RERBEH D EERZ

Supply and nonwoven fabric related
procurement operation products Total
HERRBEY HEREERGANEER &t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—BCCE —F-C “EC-=H% “E-CF “B-CE “E-CF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTR  AEEBTR  AR¥TR ARETT AR¥Tr ARETX
- - 1,128 900 1,128 900
- - 1,469 3,404 1,469 3,404
- 231 2,419 2,707 2,419 2,938
6,037 1,641 (32,483) 28,257 (26,446) 29,898
- - (1,094) (2,670) (1,094) (2,670)
- - 4,697 9,986 4,697 9,986
6,470 - - - 6,470 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

8. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 8. ZMEH (&)
Revenue from major products and services REFTEEMREBEBEHBA

ERASE I EEMMNER BRI -

Information about the Group’s major products is set out in note
9.

i & & &
AEBHLEMBIARERES-

Geographical information

The Group's operations are located in the PRC and Hong Kong.

NTHAREBREIBEPHRARE
BRI DMIERBEENE R

The Group’s revenue from external customers and information
about its non-current assets by geographical location are
detailed below.

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets*

REIMBEFHWA kRBEE*
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E=-= T —E=-= —E-F
RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARBT R AREF T AR¥ET T ARBETF T
The PRC i 113,673 176,451 87,265 36,926
Hong Kong BB - 7,585 - 237
113,673 184,036 87,265 37,163
* Non-current assets exclude interest in an associate and deferred tax * FRMBEETEERBE AR NS BT
assets. TBEE °
Information about major customers EHRTEEFNER

Details of the customers individually representing 10% or more

ERME RSB U A10% sk A B & P15

of the Group’s revenue are as follows: N
2023 2022
—E=-= T —F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARET T
Customer A BEFEA —* 34,775
Customer B =ZFB 11,929 22,475
Customer C EFEC 18,436 —*
Customer D ®FD 11,707 —*
e The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total * HE P LA NI 0 S 7 B [ ) 4B UL A B IRR10% 3k BA

revenue of the Group.

Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10%
or more to the Group’s revenue for both years.

96 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRERME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

9. REVENUE 9. WA
The Group's revenue represents sales of nonwoven fabric A& B IR AGE R A E A &R R E B D 8
related products used in automotive interior decoration parts BOMEEEDS SBREMHEES -

and other parts, rubber and food products.

An analysis of revenue by types of goods as follows: RERBESTHRALT
2023 2022
—E-= —E=-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARBTT
Nonwoven fabric related products ARARERMGNES R
for use in automotive interior decoration HEER:
— Sales of automotive floor carpets —REMHAEE 88,766 136,083
— Sales of other automotive parts — B AERGNEE 24,907 34,769
Supply and procurement operation: HERRKRBEL:
— Sales of rubber —BRBHEE - 5,599
— Sales of food products —REmiHE - 7,585
Total revenue recognised at a point in time RE—FERERN
WA 4858 113,673 184,036
All revenue contracts are for period of one year or less, B AEHN R —FAT ZEEY
as permitted by practical expedient under HKFRS 15, the BHREERNEISKENERETEZMAT 5
transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not BEEREKREGNNRZHEL RFEE -
disclosed.
10. OTHER NET GAIN/(LOSSES) 10. Hitlez  (BR) F8E
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —ET-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T AREBTTT
Interest income F B U A 67 50
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets BRATERERIENEMEE
at FVTPL BAFENE (EE) 6,349 (20,354)
Realised gain/(loss) on disposal of HERATFERERYRD
financial asset at FVTPL TREEND#HR
Wz (BE) 568 (570)
Rental income HEWA 4,444 1,701
Loss on deconsolidation of subsidiaries IR A ARMB A R®EE
(note 44) (#tit44) (6,470) -
Others H At 53 41
5,011 (19,132)

FESEANEEE R A A —E=-=%#® 97
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

W

BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

#=E

11.

ZFT A= —HIEFE

PROFIT/(LOSS) FROM OPERATIONS 11. BEBEAN (BE)
AREBMEEEHRF (BB)EMB/ (5tA)

The Group's profit/(loss) from operations is stated after

2022
—E-—F
RMB'000
ARETTT
429

3,404
2,938

152
290

13,250
3,008
1,665

164,550
9,986

29,898

(2,670)
4,396

113

charging/(crediting) the following: BRZE=3E
2023
—Eg2-=
RMB’'000
AR®T T
Auditors’ remuneration % ERAD B & 452
Depreciation of property, plant and M- -BERREBNE
equipment 1,469
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 2,418
Depreciation of investment property WEMENE 356
Expenses relating to short-term leases MEHERX 137
Staff costs including directors’ BIXRA (BREEZEEHH)
remuneration:
— Salaries and allowances — & KRS 11,355
— Share-based payment expenses — BRI RFAL -
— Retirement benefits scheme — iR REAFT SR
contributions 1,742
Cost of inventories recognised R AEEN AN TFEKAR
as cost of sales 82,878
Loss on disposal of property, LEWE WEREEBE
plant and equipment 4,697
(Reversal of allowance)/allowance EWE ZRBENEHREER
for ECL on trade receivables BB (BERR) BE (26,446)
Reversal of allowance for ECL HiERREBENEREE
on other receivables EESTE BER (1,094)
Provision for impairment on interests RERE QR R E R
in associates 2,358
Research and development expenditure #7195 M B33 2 i (#f77)
(note) -
Note: The amounts included in cost of sales for the year ended Wit

31 December 2022 amounted to nil.

CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
N ji%iﬁ%% Bﬁ-? (/lﬁ

W

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE—
12.

13.

ZFT A= —HIEFE
FINANCE COSTS

Interest expenses on bank borrowings
wholly repayable within five years

Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEAGENNEER

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

Current tax Bl A % 18

Hong Kong N

PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT") PRI EREN
([TEEMER])

IEIEB IR
Bk (Ai235)

Deferred tax
Charged to profit or loss (note 35)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and British Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Group is not subject to
any income tax in the Cayman Islands and BVI.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime of Hong Kong
Profit tax, the first HK$2 million of assessable profits of
qualifying group entities will be taxed at 8.25%), and assessable
profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits
of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%
(2022: 16.5%). Accordingly, the Hong Kong profits tax of the
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2
million of the estimated assessable profit and at 16.5% on the
estimated assessable profit above HK$2 million.

RESENHEES A

AREFABBEED
RITEFWFEER

. & A
2023 2022
—=E-= —E_=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T ARET T
1,293 1,500
287 570
1,580 2,070
. EBEX
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBET T
490 10
490 10
3,826 78
4,316 88

RERSHEREBEBRES ([RELA
RESDRIINER AEERRASEHE R
REEBRRESBAGRETMAEN -

BEEASNEHEOMBAEHUTEHE &
EREEERB E2EEB L ZERT ZF
15 128.25% < B R MBI IE ME @28 &
BT FERBUEF#51216.5% 2 T R EME
B ARFEMAFNEHBEERGEER 2EHE
ERZaMBEERI65% (T -4
16.5% ) ZH— B EHMBIE - EHit - & &S
SEEREE2E BTG ERBUE R Z
8.25% AT EHABNEH - HBiB2B & BT
TR R M6 5% A EEBFER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fade)

PR MY ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

#=E

ZFT A= —HIEFE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

No provision for taxation in Hong Kong is recognised as there
is no assessable profit for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: Nil).

PRC EIT is calculated at the applicable rates based on estimated
taxable income earned by the PRC subsidiary of the Group
with certain tax preference, based on existing legislation,
interpretation and practice in respect thereof.

Pursuant to EIT rules and regulations of the PRC, the applicable
PRC EIT rate of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is 25%.

According to the relevant announcements of income tax relief
policy for small low-profit enterprises issued by the State
Administration of Taxation, a lower EIT rate is applicable to
small-scale enterprises with low profitability that meet certain
conditions, pursuant to which, the subsidiaries qualified
as small scale enterprises with assessable profits not over
RMB3,000,000 are effectively taxable at 5% (i.e. 20% EIT rate
on the 25% of the assessable profits) for the year ended 31
December 2023. For the year ended 31 December 2022, (i) the
first RMB1,000,000 of assessable profits (the “1st Assessable
Profits”) of these subsidiaries were effectively taxable at 2.5%
(i.e. 20% EIT rate on 12.5% of the 1st Assessable Profits; and
(i) the remaining assessable profits not over RMB3,000,000
(the “Remaining Assessable Profits”) were taxable at 5% (i.e.
20% EIT rate on the 25% of the Remaining Assessable Profits).
Certain of the Company’s subsidiaries have been designated as
a small-scale enterprise.

100 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

13. FiIEHEAX (&)

HRBE-_ZE-_=F+_F=+—HLEE
THEERHREN(ZE_—F %) QIE
ERIRNE BT E-

h B £ % P18 BUR IR B (1A D) RIERELAR
MEs BEEETREERNAEEA S
A 23 ) BT BRER £ 5 e 3R B MR A b R
GELIE S

BIBEFBECEMESHANRER BEZS
TEERZEF+A=+—HILEEFE"
AEEMFENEARNERTECENS
HEB25% o

BEBRRRE ARG/ NRYMFCERS
MBEBERNEBRAS Fea THREHN
BHACEBRARENDEMSR R it
HE_Z-_=F+-_A=+—HLFE
BEER/NEBACENRB AT TBBA
R #3,000,0007T #) fE SR Bt i ) iR B BT R 5%
(BN e R A0 3% R E925% 1220% B9 S ¥ FT 15
MR B -BE2_T=_=F+=_A=1+—
HIEFE ()izEHEA7E AR 1,000,000
THERB N ((BEERANEN])RE
R E2.5% (Bt B EERBEFM12.5%
20% W EME BB E) BB R>) BT
TiBiB A K%3,000,000 T8 fERFHEF ([ 8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

W

BRI (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

#=E

ZFT A= —HIEFE

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The reconciliation between the income tax credit and the loss
before tax multiplied by the PRC EIT rate is as follows:

Profit/(loss) before tax

Tax at the PRC enterprise income tax rate XA B D EFEH T X25%

s

of 25% (2022: 25%) FTE(ZTEZ=F:25%)

Effect of concessionary tax rates BEMENTE
Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised
Utilisation of tax losses previously
not recognised
Tax effect of share of results of associate
Tax effect of income that are not taxable
Tax effect of temporary differences
not recognised
Utilisation of deductible temporary
differences previously not recognised =5

PSR X

Income tax expense

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been provided for
in respect of the temporary differences attributable to profits
earned by the PRC subsidiaries amounting to approximately
RMB85,941,000 (2022: RMB38,906,000) as the Group is
able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share amount is
based on the profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately RMB30,031,000 (2022: loss for the
year attributable to owner of the Company of approximately
RMB78,558,000) and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 175,115,104 (2022: 172,431,268) in issue during the
year.

RESENHEES A

R ADE R (E5R)

BEMTF = BT 5

RIERTIE BB BB
@Jﬁﬁ {Eﬂiﬁ&wufﬁlﬁgﬁ}g

ﬁﬁ%%@ﬂ%ﬁmﬁﬁ
BERRBAK RIS
*ﬁﬁwu\ﬁunﬁ‘_f%gﬁm%ﬂﬁ%

@Jﬁﬁi@@’:*ﬁgwuj?ujfﬁﬁnnﬁ‘r

13. F)? SHEX (&)

fﬂfﬁﬁaéﬁiﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁu BEFRATBEEEMRE

%Mﬁﬂ BEAEHENEERAT

2023 2022

—_Eg2-= —_EFE_—
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR T ARBET T
34,347 (78,470)
8,587 (19,618)
(186) (502)

3,772 12,469

856 2,155
(4,236) (321)
g 709 (74)
(4,609) (12)

5,250 5,991
(5,827) =
4,316 88

RZEZ_=ZF+=_A=Z+—HBH AR

I & gk R BT B A B B E AR ﬂw\E
85,941,000 (ZE-Z=-_F: AR®
38,906,0007T ) H & I 2 28 i F B IE FL 18
BE AARNEEEAEIEREEEERD

B MERR ZRRATE TGN A R # R
[E] o
BREAXERN(BR)

BREARRBF(FBE)SBEDREARRQF
wAE AEMLTFE RO ARK30,031,0007T
TECCF ARRBAEAREEEEERY
AR #78,558,00070) M F A B 1T EBK
2 INAEF T 8175,115,104% (ZE ==
172,431,268/ ) st &5 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

14. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

15

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

For the year ended 31 December 2023, diluted earnings per
share is the same as the basic earnings per share because the
exercise price of the Company’s outstanding share options was
higher than the average market price for shares.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, diluted loss per share is
the same as the basic loss per share because the effects of the
Company'’s outstanding share options were anti-dilutive.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION

Pursuant to the Section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordnance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as
follows:

14. BRER, (B8)

EREFERF(EFE)

HE - Z-_=F+_A=+—HIEE &
K@ ERFNEGREAZFER 2HRAK
ARAKMHARTEERENTEESNRMOE
FHTE -
HE_Z-_—_F+—A=+—HLFE"
REEHEERTgREARNBEAR  2EHARE
N E Y A AR TT R B AR A AR B U -

15. EE B TBRABENRES &M

RIEEE R A EPIE383(1) R AR (KE
EXNEER)ROIE25MEH 2 WEMT -

Salaries and Retirement benefit Share-based
Director fees allowances scheme contributions payment expenses Total
EShe FEeRAE BRERGEER DRBBERHHR &3t
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“g-=f —ZT--f ZB-tH§ -F-_F CZg-=F _—T--F ZB-=E _-FT-_F CZE-=F _—T__fF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTR ARETT ARBTR ARETR ARMTR ARETT ARMTR ARETR ARMTR ARET:
Name of director 32
Executive director HiTEE
Zhuang Yuejin (note (3)) HRE (W) - 184 - - - - 348 = 532
Wong Ho Yin (note (b)) BER (M) - - 1,682 1,585 18 15 = 348 1,700 1,948
Xiao Suni HEIE 109 103 - - - - 348 109 451
Independent non-executive B 75 E
director
Mak Wai Ho RER 109 103 - - - - - 109 103
Ng Li La Adeline RAP 87 82 - - - - - 87 82
Zhu Chun Yan RER 87 82 = = - = - 87 82
392 554 1,682 1,585 18 15 - 1,044 2,092 3,198
Notes: Ve

(a) Mr. Zhuang Yuejin is also the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
the Company.

(b) Mr. Wong Ho Yin is also the Chief Financial Officer of the Company.
Mr. Wong Ho Yin was resigned as executive director and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company with effect on 18 October 2023.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors and chief
executive as a discretionary bonus or an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
There was no arrangement under which a Director waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years ended
31 December 2023 and 2022.
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(b) BEEARLENBARABWHMBEBE -FTERL
EHEARRARTESEYBAE B -F
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fade)

PR EE (A

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

15.

16.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ AND
EMPLOYEES’' REMUNERATION (Continued)

The executive director’s emolument shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group.

The independent non-executive director’s emoluments shown
above were for their services as directors of the Company.

No transactions agreement and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Company or any subsidiaries of
the Company was a party an in which a director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid individuals of the Group during the year
included 2 (2022: 3) director(s), details of whose remuneration
set out in note 15 above. The emoluments of the remaining 3
(2022: 2) individuals are set out below:

ERFHE MR
BARAEFIFT SR

Basic salaries and allowances
Retirement benefits scheme contributions

The number of the senior management (excluding directors) of
the Group are within the following band:

Nil to HKD1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/% 7T
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no
remuneration was paid by the Group to the non-executive
director, highest paid employees as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
None of the non-executive director and highest paid employees
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

RESENHEES A

15.

16.

EX BRETRAEBRESHMH
(%)
EXFRRATESHMARERARDRARE
EEEHORBMS -

EXRBLFRATEETHE RBRFEEAR
REEFENME -

ARBHARBERMBERARBERTLE M
AEEEE REEIFATAERFEDN
RXP HERAH MEERETFEERXM
EEAEAER-

LERRFHHES
AEBRAFENERESHHALEER
BB —F ZH)EF HEHBERT
REXHEIS BT=EBBHFMAL (=
To_F WA MFHEIIMT

2023 2022
—E-= —_F_—
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥ T ARETT
535 399

38 27

573 426

AEBESRERE (FTEEES)ZAHEN
FATHEER :

Number of individuals

A
2023 2022
—EC=HF —E -
3 2

HE-_T-_=Ffrk_T-__F+=ZA=+—
BEFER AESEMEMIENTES &
BEMEE NS EAIAZREE KN
AXREEH R RE SIEAHBHBE-#Z
ZEZ=FRZTFEZZF+ZA=+—HL
FERN BEFFTEETEEaNSEER
EYREREEANMNE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

B2 —E - =—F At HA="1—HIFEF

17. DIVIDEND 17. R &2
The directors do not recommend the payments of any dividend EETERREE S _=F+=A=+—
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil). AEFERNEAERE(ZEZZF &) -

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. X -MERRE
Furniture
Plant and Motor and Leasehold
Buildings ~ machinery vehicles fixtures improvements Total
BF BEREH RE  BRAREE HEVNXRES At
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARBTr ARETT ARETT ARBT:R
Cost KA
At 1 January 2022 R-E--%—F—H 10,067 87,052 4,751 2,511 3,469 107,850
Additions AE - 861 - 39 - 900
Disposals HE (435) (42,263) - (331) - (43,029)
Transfer to investment properties  E#%Z R &9 %

(note 19) (Hi#19) (9,632) - - - - (9,632)
Exchange alignment EXBE - - 60 21 55 136
At 31 December 2022 and RZZZZF+ZA=+-ARK

1 January 2023 “Z-=Z%-R-H - 45,650 4,811 2,240 3,524 56,225
Additions NE - 1,128 - - - 1,128
Disposals HE - (5,627) (246) - - (5,873)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries & [F&RA ABRNB A A - - (763) (347) (257) (1,367)
At 31 December 2023 RZBZZF

+=ZB=+-H - 41,151 3,802 1,893 3,267 50,113
Accumulated depreciation REHE
At 1 January 2022 R-E--%—-F—H 5,277 53,967 3,460 1,936 2,340 66,980
Charge for the year FEXM 152 2,710 251 180 m 3,404
Disposals irf= (82) (32,631) - (286) - (32,999)
Transfer to investment properties  E#%Z % EH%E

(note 19) (Hiz19) (5,347) - - - - (5,347)
Exchange alignment R AR - - 59 21 55 135
At 31 December 2022 and RZZZZF+-A=+—-ARK

1 January 2023 “Z-=f-H—H - 24,046 3,770 1,851 2,506 32,173
Charge for the year FEZH - 1,220 62 107 80 1,469
Disposals HE - (955) (217) - - (1,172)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries R IE4RE ABRKIBA A - - (763) (347) (257) (1,367)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+-A=1-H = 24,311 2,852 1,611 2,329 31,103
Net book value REEE
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=%+Zh=+-H - 16,840 950 282 938 19,010
At 31 December 2022 WZZEZZE+ZA=+—-H - 21,604 1,041 389 1,018 24,052
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ¥ BMERRKR®E (£Z)
(Continued)
Impairment assessment B T
For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group assessed BE_Z_=F+_A=+—HILFEE K
that there was no impairment indicator of the CGU. EECTHRAREELEMBEREDNR -
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the directors of the BHE_Z-_—_F+_A=+—HILFE K
Company have performed impairment assessment in respect NAEFERESNMHEE R ERHEE
of the manufacturing and sale of nonwoven fabric related TRE G HEAleE B NERAARQTE
products, the recoverable amounts of which have been ERMHERERLFHENRERERARE
determined based on value in use using cashflow projection FTREBRET TEFRAEBEESEMKAD
approved by the directors of the Company covering a five years TATANIE R B8% - HE A EMRAEBEERE
period. The pre-tax discount rates applied in measuring the REBRBAMKE¢E BEHE_T ==
amounts of value in use is 8%. The carrying amount of then FH+ZA=+T—HLEFE BMEREERA
relevant assets does not excess the recoverable amounts based ARG IS MR AN IEL B -

on value in use, and there was no impairment considered
necessary of provide in the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

= =FF A= —HIFE
19. INVESTMENT PROPERTY 19. REYWE
During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group HEZZZ_=FrZ_T__F+ZA=+—
leased out a self-owned factory under an operating lease with ALEFE ASERLEHELE—HES
rentals payable monthly. The lease typically run for an initial period WE HerT AN -BHU—BTF BES
of 5 years. Fo
Since the factory was leased out during the year, the carrying HRZBERFEFRALEE BE_T__F
amount of the factory classified as buildings included in TZ A=+ —BLEFE - DEREFIA
property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB4,285,000 ME BEREZENBEFEEENARE
was transferred to investment property during the year ended 31 4,285,000 B 21 EYHE - REBIRNK AR
December 2022 and subsequently measured under cost model. RAFE-
Investment
property
REYHE
RMB'000
AR T T
Cost AR
At 1 January 2022 R-ZZE-_—_F—H—H -
Transfer from property, plant ERAVE REMEE (HiF18)
and equipment (note 18) 9,632
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 and RZEBZZF+ZA=+—H - ZF==%F
31 December 2023 —A—BR-ZE-_=F+-_HA=+—H 9,632
Accumulated depreciation E i
At 1 January 2022 R-ZEZ—F—HA—H -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (note 18) ®E#REW%E - WMELRE (#:L18) 5,347
Charge for the year FEXH 152
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZEZZF+ZA=+—HEFK
—E-=F—H—H 5,499
Charge for the year FEXZH 356
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE—=F+=-A=+—H 5,855
Net book value R FE
At 31 December 2023 RZFEZ=F+=-A=+—H 3,777
At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—F+-_H=+—H 4,133
At 31 December 2023, the Group's investment property with WZE-=F+-"A=+—8 AEEE@A
a carrying amount of approximately RMB3,777,000 (2022: BHEBARKES 777,000 (ZE - _F 4
approximately RMB4,133,000) was pledged as security to banks AR¥4,133,00070) (IR E W E D HF TR
for bank borrowings. TEAREBHRITER ZERM -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMB|RME (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_FE_—Ff+ _H=+—HIFE
20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Cost
At 1 January 2022
Additions
Exchange alignment

At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries
(note 44)

At 31 December 2023
Accumulated depreciation

At 1 January 2022

Charge for the year

Exchange alignment

At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023

Charge for the year
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries
(note 44)

At 31 December 2023

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2023

At 31 December 2022

RESENHEES A

20. FRAREEE
Leasehold Leased
land Properties Total
AEL i HEWE &3t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
AREF T AREEF T ARET T
24N
R-—ZE-——F—H—H 2,552 10,648 13,200
NE = 5,195 5,195
PE 5 = 88 88
N-_E -4
+-A=+—HX
—E-=f—HF—H 2,552 15,931 18,483
IR A ARKEB R A
(Bt at44) = (766) (766)
R-B-=F
+=ZA=+-—8H 2,552 15,165 17,717
R2ItIE
RN-ZE-_—_F—H—H 219 6,275 6,494
FELMH 73 2,865 2,938
PE H % - 73 73
R-ZZE-_—_F+—-A
—t+—BHAEk=ZZE=-=F
—A—H 292 9,213 9,505
FELH 73 2,345 2,418
BILER A ARKB QA
(Hit44) - (529) (529)
R-ZE-=%F
+=—B=+-—H 365 11,029 11,394
SR &
R-B-=F
+=ZA=+—8H 2,187 4,136 6,323
RZE——
+=—A=+—8 2,260 6,718 8,978
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

20. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued) 20. EFAREEE (&)
2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®TF T AREBTTT
Expenses relating to short-term leases REHER 433 290
Total cash outflow for leases (note) HER R LR (M) 3,267 3,493
Addition to right-of-use assets EREEERE - 5,195
Note: Amount includes payments of principal of RMB2,547,000 (2022: Wit ZeBERINEEEENLTEARY
RMB2,633,000) and interest portion of RMB287,000 (2022: 2,547,0007T ( ZZF = =% : AR#2,633,0007T)
RMB570,000) of lease liabilities and lease terms ends within 12 LA EIH AREE287,000 (Z T ==F: A
months of RMB433,000 (2022: RMB290,000). R %570,0007T) - AR 1218 A A EIHRE) B A
R #433,0007T (ZF = =4 : AR 290,000
TT) °
Lease liabilities of RMB4,572,000 (2022: RMB7,362,000) are RIB_=%+-A=+—H E®RRIEE
recognised with related right-of-use assets of RMB4,136,000 BEAR®A572000c(ZTE-—F: AR
(2022: RMB6,718,000) as at 31 December 2023. The lease #7,362,0007) R B AEEE AR
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the 4,136,000C (ZZE - —4F: AR#¥6,718,000
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the T BREBEARENHEEENERER
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing SN HEBBELBRENEARB - HEEE
PUrpOSes. A AEERER-

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s leasehold land with a W-E-=F+-"A=+—8 AEEE@A
carrying amount of approximately RMB2,187,000 (2022: BEHARM2,187,000 (ZE=ZZF :HA
approximately RMB2,260,000) was pledged as security to banks R#2,260,0000) WA E L DA FiR1T

for bank borrowings. ERIBITER ZEITF R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE—F_—F1-A=1—HAIFE
21. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of subsidiaries of the Company at 31 December

2023 and 2022 were as follows:

Name of Company

ARER

Joystar (BVI) Automotive Interior
Decoration Limited

Joystar (BVI) Auto Inter-parts Limited

Joystar International Investment
Limited

REBRREERAF

Joystar China Investment Limited

REPEREFRAA

Joystar Wuxi (note (1))

RE (B5H) (M)

Link Excellent Limited

RESENHEES A

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation

SRR
BREREELE

British Virgin
Islands (“BVI")
ERERRES

([(ZBERRES])

BYI
KEAMRES

Hong Kong

BE
Hong Kong
BB

PRC

hE

BYI
RERABARES

Nominal value
of issued
and fully

paid ordinary
shares/lIssued
and paid up/
registered
capital

ERTRBEE

BRZ
AE/CETR
#r/
ZRER

usp1
(B
usp1
(ESp

HK$1,170,177

11701778 T
HK$1
18T

usD7,477,172

74771112%E T

USD50,000
50,0003 T

Direct

21. ELXANFHAESR

R-E-—=FR-_FT-_—F+-A=+—08"
ARBIMBRRZFHBAT :

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting power
held by the Company

AARFEREER
RERELH
2023 2022
—EZ=ZF —EC-CF
Indirect Direct  Indirect
E# i B il
100% - 100% -
100% - 100% -
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
- 100% - 100%
100% - 100% -

Principal activities

TEEHR

Investment holding

RE R

Investment holding

REER

Trading of nonwoven fabric
related products used
in automotive interior
decoration parts and other
parts
EERRAEAMHREM
BAMESTIEBER

Trading of rubber
BEERE

Manufacturing of nonwoven
fabric related products
used in automotive interior
decoration parts and other
parts

SERR BN R
BAMESTIEBER

Investment holding

RE R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE-_FE-=—Ff+ - HA=+—HIFF
21. PARTICULARS OF THE SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

Name of Company

DAEER

Place of
incorporation/
registration
and operation

HEMRL,/
BEREEME

Nominal value
of issued
and fully

paid ordinary
shares/Issued
and paid up/
registered
capital

ERTRARE

BRZ
EE/BETR
gr/
ARER

Link Sharp International Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000
B 10,0007 7
Sinogate Energy Limited BVI UsD1
RERERER AR ERERRES (E
Splendid Sun Limited Hong Kong HK$1
PHmERAA B BT
WE S (LB)BRAR (note () PRC USD600,000
BB (DB ERRA (i) 600,000% T
Loyal Brands International Limited BVI UsD50,000
(note (i)
Loyal Brands International Limited EEEAREE 50,000% 7T
(Hiztai)
Giant Faith Holdings Limited (note (i) Hong Kong HK$10,000
Giant Faith Holdings Limited (#f#£(i)) & 10,0007 7t

Proportion of ownership
interest and voting powe
held by the Company

100%

r

100%

21. B RARNFEMER (£)

Principal activities

KRARFEMERER
REELS TEXH
2023 2022
—EZZHE —T-CF
Direct Indirect Direct  Indirect
E# CiE:3 B A
- 100% - 100% Trading of food products
BEEM
- 100% - 100% Investment holding
REER
- 100% - 100% Trading of rubber
BEKE
- 100% - 100% Trading of rubber

BELE
Investment holding

BB R

Trading of food products

o2 A O
BERMm

None of the subsidiaries had debt securities outstanding at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

Notes:
(i) Registered as a wholly-owned foreign enterprise under the PRC law.

(ii) Deconsolidated during the year ended 31 December 2023.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group, which in the
opinion of directors, principally attached the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in to
opinion of directors, result in particulars of excessive lengths.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

22. REFERNANES

2023 2022
—E-= T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®F T ARBTT
Cost of investment in associates B A BRI IR E R B AR
- Unlisted —3F kT 27,270 26,549
Share of post-acquisition loss and FEiEEEER
other comprehensive income, MEMZEEA
net of dividends received (kB U ERR S.)
— Unlisted —JFEEm™ (7.171) (4,205)
Impairment loss BB EE (14,225) (11,543)
5,874 10,801
During the year under review, an impairment loss on REBFEAN  ARAIIKESE N®REER
interests in associates of approximately RMB2,358,000 ERRTE (B DA K B & 2 Bl A8 & AT AE T 9% B D A
(2022: approximately RMB4,396,000) was recognised in Bl RASENGE B REMEE Y=
the Group's consolidated statement of profit or loss and RTBRARNBE AN ERZ 2 RERBELD
other comprehensive income on the basis of decline in the AR#2 358,000 (ZE-_—F :HARK
recoverable amount which was below the carrying amount 4,396,0007T °
and adverse changes in the market in which the associates
operated.
At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had interest in the R =FR_ZF-__F+_A=+—8"

following associates:

Place of

incorporation/

registration

Name of Company and operation
MK ERE

NEEW REENE

Prominent Alliance Limited BVI
RERRRAHS

GEO Securities Limited Hong Kong
B

RESENHEES A

AE BN T IS AR AN

Proportion of
ownership interest

Issued and and voting power
paid up capital held by the Group  Principal activity
rEEfEREER
BRARBEREK SR TEEHR
2023 2022
—EC-=E —ZE-_F
UsD100,000 42% 42% Investment holding
100,000 7T REEK
HKD99,444,592 42% 42% Dealing and advising on securities
99,444,592 1T BHRH NHH



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
=z =FF A=+ —HIFE
22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the associates

22. REFEDNTEINRER (&)
T #HFIBL A TN EEREE-

are set out below.

2023 2022
—E—-= —Eg-=
RMB’'000 RMB'000
ARET ARET T
Current assets MEEE 18,735 24,442
Non-current assets ERBEE 30,258 35,100
Current liabilities mEEE (23,374) (27,992)
Non-current liabilities EREEE = -
2023 2022
—E-= T F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT ARET T
Revenue PN 2,891 3,397
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BBE) 55 (6,756) 708
Other comprehensive loss for the year FEHEHMEEEE - -
Total comprehensive (loss)/income FE2E (BE) A
for the year ,Wﬁéi (6,756) 708
Group's share of results of associates AEEEGBE AR ELE (2,837) 297
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to LM EERBERRE MERERABRY
the carrying amount of the interest in the associate recognised B AR ERREENEERNT
in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:
2023 2022
—_E-= =T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETTT
Net assets of the associate B N R EE SR 25,619 31,550
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REBERHEE QR
interest in the associate Ffr 4 #& £ {31 42% 42%
10,760 13,251
Goodwill SES 9,339 9,093
Impairment loss VRN SEiE] (14,225) (11,543)
Carrying amount of the Group's interest ~ ZN & [ R B & R A1 A HE S
in the associate BREE 5,874 10,801
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fade)

PR MY ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

#=E

22.

23.

ZFfZA=F—HIFE
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Particular of impairment testing on interest in an associate are
disclosed below:

Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to
the following cash — generating units operated by an associate:

- Provision of dealing and advising on securities business

For the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
recoverable amount of this cash-generating units has been
determined based on a value in use calculation which uses cash
flow projection based on financial budgets approved by the
directors and valued by the professional independent valuer
covering a five year period, and pre-tax discount rate of 14.0%
(2022: 15.9%) per annum. cash flows beyond that five-year
period have been extrapolated using a steady 2.5% (2022:
2.5%) growth rate. This growth rate does not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the market.

The key assumptions used in the value in use calculations are
as follows:

Budgeted market
shares

Average market share in the period
immediately before the budget period.
The values assigned to assumption
reflect past experience

Budgeted gross Average gross margins achieved in

margin the period immediately before the
budget period which reflects the past
experience
INVENTORIES

Raw materials Rt
Work in progress Pt
Finished goods UK o

RESENHEES A

22, NEEE

AR ()
RS AR 2 B RENAFEREN T -

EED BRE R R D B2 A T KL 8 A
TIREeEESM:

- }E{/\uu }Egﬁnﬁnﬂﬁﬁz

BE - _=FfR-_FT-__F+-_A=1+—
HIFFE ZBESEABEMNA KO SET)
BIEFEREEFELET &P EARAE
RNEEER AN KEEB I HEMGED
FFHUBEENRESREEA UIRETF
14.0% (ZE -4 :15.9% ) B AT IR =
FESH - BBRAFHBEZRERE NEHR
BEERER25% (DT - —4F:25% ) #H-
I ERTBBEMSE LR TPYERER.

EREESEEMAZAREBRERNT

23. 78

EEMSH ZEBEAAHEZFY
HEX migh A X -BREFA
2 BERYATLR
TEE EF = ZEBEPIHABER 2
FHEME REBE
FEE
2023 2022
—E-= g
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR®T ARET T
12,087 10,295
721 734
8,639 12,129
21,447 23,158




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

FEWE 530 IR
B EEEERE

Trade receivables
Less: allowance for ECL

I

Bills receivables

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice
date, net of allowance for ECL, is as follows:

0 to 90 days 0290H

91 to 180 days 91%180H
181 to 365 days 181%365H
Over 365 days B38365H

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on
credit. The credit terms generally ranging from 30 days to 120
days, depending on the creditworthiness of customers and
the existing relationship with the Group. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. Trade
receivables are non-interest bearing.

114 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

2. ERESFRERREE

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARET T
83,270 185,015
(13,116) (43,919)
70,154 141,096
3,156 3,473
73,310 144,569

RIFHZEH BUE SRIBHREDH (&
NBRRBESERBEREE) T

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T ARETT
55,634 57,808
5,229 79,598
9,291 3,690
70,154 141,096

AEEREFPNEZBRAEIEZREE -RIE
EFEERBAASENRARE FEH—
MR F3I0E120R - REBR S BREEIEARN
ZERWFIE -BMARN 2 EHRARRERE
THEH - BREZIRERRLE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

24. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

(Continued)

24. BRESZRERRERE (&)

At 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of the Group’s
trade and bills receivables were denominated in RMB
of approximately RMB73,310,000 (2022: approximately
RMB144,569,000).

Movement in lifetime ECL that has been recognised for trade
receivables in accordance with the simplified approach set out
in HKFRS 9 for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 is
as follows:

R-E-_=F+_-_A=+—8 ANEEDHE
WESFBRZEEZEAEIAAREE
%A ANR¥ET73,310,000c (ZE-—F : HH A
R #144,569,0007T ) °

HE-_T-_=Ffr_FT-_—_F+-_A=+—
BIEFE ASECRESEE N B RS 2ER
FOEFTH B AR ERE S HNERREH
BHEEFBBEENT

Total

et

RMB'000

ARET T

At 1 January 2022 R-E-——#—HA—H 14,021

Allowance for ECL TEHEEEERE 29,898
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 RZIBE-_—F+-_A=+—HBEK

—E-=%—AF—H 43,919

Reversal of allowance for ECL JEEEEEBRERR (26,446)

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries B4R a ABRKTE A A (4,357)

At 31 December 2023 RZE-_=F+=-A=+—H 13,116

The reversal of loss allowance and loss allowance for trade
receivables during the years ended 31 December 2023 and
2022 are approximately RMB26,446,000 and RMB29,898,000
respectively. Movement in allowance for ECL that has been
recognised for trade receivables under ECL model of HKFRS 9
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 was detailed
in note 6.

RESENHEES A

HE-_ZE_ZFEKR-_FT-_—F+_A=+—
ALFE BERESREBENBERERRD R
EREED B4 B AR 26,446,000 & A
R#29,898,000- BEHEBE-_TS ==K
—E-—F+-_AZ+—BLFEALEE
BEESVERELEBFORTEHREERFE
EARERE HFERRIEHEEFHBERE
BE) RIS E MG o



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRERME (&

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 25. ARNRE RERHEMERKE
RECEIVABLES
2023 2022
—E-= T —4F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR®T R ARBF T
Trade deposits ES5Ee 9,880 30,710
Prepayments TE T RIE 61,750 4,999
Other receivables, net HAth JE W FRIBF R 10,652 7,348
82,282 43,057
Less: Non-current portion (note) B IERENE D (ML) (58,155) -
24,127 43,057
The amount represents the prepayment of acquisition of plant ZeRERUNERHERESMIEHAER S
and equipment for upgrading the existing production lines for ARBBEESMBERSERREOBEMNR
manufacture and sale of non-woven fabric related products HoTEHAE RREHERN T _MFLRE
segment. It is expected that the plant and equipment would be MBAFRBEER 2T _OF8HH-
installed and the amounts of prepayment would be utilised in
2024.
Details of assessment of ECL are set out in note 6. BHEEEBT MBS 6 -
26. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 26. BEAFERBRIIENEREE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2023 2022
—E=-= -
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR T ARBEF T
Listed securities: thmEE:
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong EES LTHRAFES 27,368 19,319
Fair values are determined with reference to quoted market bid RNEBEDHDLERHRMGEABRSREE 2
prices and quoted price from financial institution. WEMEBE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

27. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and in banks,
net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the reporting period as shown in the consolidated
statement of cash flows can be reconciled to the related items
in the consolidated statement of financial position as follows:

Cash and bank balances R & RIRTTHE
Renminbi AR

Hong Kong dollars BT

United States dollars ETT

At 31 December 2023, the bank balances of the Group
denominated in Renminbi amounted to approximately
RMB15,762,000 (2022: RMB12,485,000) were kept in banks
in the PRC. Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the PRC's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations.

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rate.

RESENHEES A

27.

B RBRITER
MiERARERERME REMXRSFEY
BREFERS RITIFEX HRAREERT
BX -REReRERATRENRNAS
EREEY A EEEHBRRR A IERE
HEHERET:

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T ARETT
26,043 25,324
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —g=-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET T ARET T
15,762 12,485
1,178 4,016
9,103 8,823
26,043 25,324

RZZEZ=FF+A=+—H KXEBUA
REFELFHRAFBIR NIRRT 2 RITER
4B ANRE15,762,000 (Z T = —4F : A
R #12,485,0007T « A RHE W32 pk SMNIE 7E 8
TFTHEINIETEGN RERE SERGES
BIRE -

FRRBITZRASEERBITERBNEZ
FER R EREUF B -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE T _=—F+_A=+—HIFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL

Authorised: EE:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each BREE0.025ETNLER
At 1 January 2022, 31 December 2022, R=ZZB=-=f-8-8"
1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 “E--%+=ZA=t+-R"
ZB-Z£-8-HK
ZBEZZE+tZA=+-8H
Issued and fully paid: Eﬁﬁ&ﬁ%ﬂﬂ'
At 1 January 2022 RZE_-_f—-H—-H
Exercise of share options fIfe i R
At 31 December 2022, 1 January 2023 R-BE-—_F+-A=+-8"
and 31 December 2023 “E-=f-A-HRK

“E-=%+=-A=1+-H

29. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Notes:

Share premium

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the funds in the share
premium of the Company are distributable to the shareholders of the
Company provided that immediately following the date on which the
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company will be in a position to
pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

Share premium represents premium arising from the issue of shares at a price
in excess of their par value per share and after deduction of capitalisation
issue and issuance costs of placing of shares.

Contributed surplus

Contributed surplus of the Company represented the difference between
the net assets value of the subsidiary acquired and the nominal value of the
share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof pursuant to the
reorganisation during the year ended 31 December 2010.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve of the Group arose as a result of the Group
reorganisation implemented in preparation for the listing of the Company’s
shares in 2010 and represented the difference between the nominal value
of the aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired under the
reorganisation scheme, over the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company issued in exchange therefore.
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28. B A
Number of shares Amount Amount
RA#E 8 8
HK$000 RMB'000
FET AREFT
40,000,000,000 1,000,000 863,495
167,215,104 4,180 3,476
7,900,000 198 167
175,115,104 4,378 3,643

29. f#1E
AEERAFERBAFTFENRELRES

BEGARDREHRIET -

%12 2 18
REFASERBERTE ARABRNEERANESH

1ﬁ"EE%ZJS FIRR - MR EHRIRTARE B HE A
ARBMAEIRABEBBRTEEINHOES -

Bt B iREER N BREE 2 ERBETRO IR
B EAME BT REERMNETRAREEN GE -

BABEK
RRBZHABBEMRBEZHBRAREEFEER
BRHE-Z—ZTF+ A=+ -HIEFESEARESF
BRI Z ARBRAEE L ZRE -

Cri

AEBEZAHBRBEENR _Z-ZFE/HARAKRN
LTmMAETNER EREEAFEKBOHEAL
AIRARBENEESEDRARBIRIBETAERRE
PR T {E i) ) %R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

29.

30.

RESERVES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

Foreign currency translation reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
material accounting policies set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Statutory reserve

Subsidiaries of the Company established in the PRC shall appropriate 10% of
its annual statutory net profit (after offsetting any prior year’s losses) to the
statutory reserve fund account in accordance with the PRC Company Law.
When the balance of such reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity’s share
capital, any further appropriation is optional. The statutory reserve fund
can be utilised to offset prior year’s losses or to increase capital after proper
approval.

TRADE PAYABLES

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the invoice
dates, is as follows:

0 to 90 days 0£90H

91 to 180 days 91£180H
181 to 365 days 181&365H
Over 365 days HBiB365H

Trade payables generally have credit terms ranging from 10
days to 60 days.

At 31 December 2023, trade payables are denominated in RMB
and HKD of approximately RMB29,982,000 and RMB465,000
(2022: RMB50,028,000 and RMB568,000) respectively.

RESENHEES A

29.

30.

(&)

Bt (&)

SERERE

SNERE R R IR R E SN E TR R M E LR AT
BINEZRE - ZREBIIREE MWK TAPTET
BESFHEKEIE-

EEMRE

BEBEHEARE AARRPEKRLZHERRAR
HERZEEMAMN(EHRBEFEBRR)A10% &
EEERHBERP MM BECBAHREZERBEA
250% Al ERETHEEME—SDIR NESEE
HER AERESUREEHEBEFEBERIEE -

ENEZRE
BEZEZEH ENESFENRE ST
T

2023 2022
—E-= =T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETR ARBT T
14,791 24,486
3,744 7,769
423 1,412
11,489 16,929
30,447 50,596

ENEZRBEER RN F10E60H -

R-ZZBE-_=F+—A=+—HB UAER®EE
B ENENESREINOAARE
29,982,000 & A R #465,00000 (ZE ==
F: AR #50,028,0007T & A R #568,000
T e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fade)

PR MY ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

31.

32.

Be2—F-_—Ff+-_A=+—HIFEF

ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

Accruals of staff costs JEEF B TR
Accruals of operating expenses FEEHE &R X
Other payables Hfh fE A SRR

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The following provides information about contract liabilities
from contract with customers:

At 1 January n—HA—H

Revenues recognised during the year FARRHBA (REFEH
that was included in the contract FFAEHEE)
liabilities at the beginning of the year

Deconsolidation of subsidiaries (note 44) #& 1LizE ANEHE R 7

(Kt5Ea4)

Increase in contract liabilities as a FAREFBREEDN
result of advance from customers ERBEEM
during the year

At 31 December R+=ZA=+—8H

The contract liabilities represent the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods for which the Group has received consideration,
or for which an amount of consideration is due from
customers. The contract liabilities would be recognised as
revenue within one year. The Group recognises revenue when
“control” of goods is transferred to the customers.

In general, the Group receives certain percentage of the
contract sum as advance payment from the customers of the
sale of goods.
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31. Bt EAR Ht BN KA

2023 2022
—ECZ=HF —_E-
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARET T
559 611
1,039 1,561
10,982 15,948
12,580 18,120
32. e EE
NTE#HEREFANMEHNABZER:
2023 2022
—E-= —_E-
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARETT
46,537 30,007
(45,739) (30,007)
(798) -
3,133 46,537
3,133 46,537

AMAEEFEECRREREKRESRE
HEEBERER - ANREER —FRR
RAKA - BREGN [E5E] 98T EFE -

REBHERUA

AEEBEAZEPUR—ELANANEER

EREmEERMNR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

(i xhH

33. BANK BORROWINGS 33. RITE
2023 2022
—E2-= — T4
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARET T
Bank loans, secured RITEZ A 25,000 25,000
Less: Amounts classified under current D EAREAERNKIE
liabilities
Secured bank loan that contain a BRER—FANEHEEN
repayment due within one year BEBRETER (25,000) (25,000)
Amounts classified under DEAIERBBENIE
non-current liabilities = -
2023 2022
—E_-= —E-F
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBET T
Carrying amount repayable: JE 8B FIERRE(E -
— within one year —R—F R 25,000 25,000
Secured bank loan HEBIBITER 25,000 25,000
At 31 December 2023, the bank borrowings were secured RZZE—=F+=-A=+—H" RIT7EKMH

by charges over the (1) Group's investment property with
the carrying amount of approximately RMB3,777,000 (2022:
approximately RMB4,133,000); (2) leasehold land with carrying
amount of approximately RMB2,187,000 (2022: approximately
RMB2,260,000) respectively; and (3) corporate guarantee
provided by Zhuang Yuejin, the director of the Company and
his spouse. The weighted average effective floating interest
rate on the short-term bank borrowings is 4.35% (2022:
4.42%) per annum.

At 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of bank
borrowings are denominated in RMB of RMB25,000,000 (2022:
RMB25,000,000). The maturity date of the bank borrowings is
from 18 June 2024 to 25 June 2024.

There was no breach of covenants at 31 December 2023 (2022:
nil).

RESENHEES A

(MAEBEEREmEHAREKS,777,000T (=F
——F HARKA,133,0000T) IR EWE
RQ)EEEHARKE2,187,0000 (T ==
F:HAREE2,260,0007T) HFAE L & (3)
RABESHRERERBRERENQAER
EERB-RHRITER 2 MEFHIER T
FEHMEBAZS% (B —F:1442%) °

RZZEZ=ZFF+=ZA=Z+—HBH UAR
BMAEZRTERZEAENAAR
25,000,000 (ZE--F: ARK
25,000,0007T) ~ RITEFREHB AZZT =T
EXNATNBE-_ZE-_MEA=-THRB -

BHE_ZT-_=%+-A=+—H8 HEER
RHE(ZEZZF ],) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE
34.

35.

ZFT A= —HIEFE

LEASE LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group had lease liabilities
as follows:

Within 1 year S —F KN

BBE—FERMEAN
HBMFEERAFA

After 1 year but within 2 years
After 2 years but within 5 years

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities
range from 3.4% to 6.4% (2022: 3.4% to 6.4%).

3. HEEE
RZEZ=FR=ZFE__F+=ZA=+—H"
AEEHMHERED T :

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—

Present value of
the minimum lease

Present value
of the minimum

lease payments payments
BREHENRRE SEEENHRE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTR ARETT

2,020 2,754

1,142 1,972

1,410 2,636

2,552 4,608

4,572 7,362
BERANRHEEBEMNEEERFENF3.4%

Z6.4% (ZE-—F:34%%E6.4%) °

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS 35. EEMIEEE
The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised and REAFERBEFEERNTIZRELEHEE
movements thereon during the current and prior years: EREEEHMT
Allowance for
expected credit loss
on trade and
other receivables
EHESR
HtNENEEEERS
BB
RMB'000
AREFL
At 1 January 2022 NZE-_—F—F—H 3,905
Charged to profit or loss for the year (note 13) BEEEENG (Mi213) (78)
Exchange alignment ERAE M
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R-B-_—f#+-B=+-AKR=-F-=%-F—-H 3,826
Charged to profit or loss for the year (note 13) BFER=ME (Hit13) (3,826)
At 31 December 2023 R-Z-=%+-A=1+-H -
Note: Kiat -
At 31 December 2023, the Group had unused tax losses of approximately RZEZ=F+ZA=+—H AEEHEBETHE

RMB3,224,000 (2022: RMB16,744,000) available for offset against future
taxable profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the estimated unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams of the respective subsidiary of the Group which incurred the tax loss.
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HEARERBH ZFINADABREBEBEOARE
3,224,000 (=T = — 4 : AR#16,744,0007T) °
FOEE AR TS S 1B A A 55 B A A B /BB A B AR 2RO B AR A9
ATFERI M - i AR B ST R B AR S BB R T
RIBEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F

For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those
for which cash flow were, or future cashflows will be classified
in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows from

financing activities.

At 1 January 2022
Non-cash item

Accrued interest

Additions to lease liabilities
Financing cash inflows
Financing cash outflows
Exchange alignment

At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023

Non-cash item

Accrued interest

Financing cash inflows
Financing cash outflows
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries

At 31 December 2023

RESENHEES A

RZZE-Z=F—HF—H
FRLIEE

FEETF &
HEBBEM
BMERDREA
MERE M

[ 5

RZBE-_ZF+-A=+—-HRK

—E-=ZFf—HF—H

FREEA

FERT B
BERTAA
MERLRL

B A ARMEB AR

RZZEZ=F+=-A=+—H

36.

METHELENEBYR

TRAMAEERETHELNBEZEE)
BRACKIIRACED RERDELNE
BERAEREIAKATRE SRAKH
HERERERDIBRABETHNEE

Lease Bank
liabilities borrowings Total
MERE RITER &5
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETTT AREFTT ARETTT
4,908 30,000 34,908
570 1,500 2,070
5,195 - 5,195
- 45,000 45,000
(3,203) (51,500) (54,703)
(108) - (108)
7,362 25,000 32,362
287 1,293 1,580
- 25,000 25,000
(2,834) (26,293) (29,127)
(243) - (243)
4,572 25,000 29,572




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE
37.

38.

39.

CE = FF A= HIFFE

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

The Group has no material capital commitment as 31 December
2023 (2022: nil).

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

At 31 December 2023, the Group’s investment property (note
19) with a carrying amount of approximately RMB3,777,000
(2022: approximately RMB4,133,000) and leasehold land (note
20) with a carrying amount of approximately RMB2,187,000
(2022: approximately RMB2,260,000) were pledged to banks as
collateral for secured the bank borrowings.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEME

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying employees in
Hong Kong. The Group's contributions to the MPF Scheme
are calculated at 5% of the salaries and wages subject to a
monthly maximum amount of contribution of HK$1,500 per
employee and vest fully with employees when contributed into
the MPF Scheme. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees and each required to make contribution to the MPF
Scheme at 5% of the employees’ relevant income subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions
to MPF Scheme vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary established in the PRC
are members of a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. This subsidiary is required to contribute
certain percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and wages
to the central pension scheme to fund the retirement benefits.
The local municipal government undertakes to assume the
retirement benefits obligations of all existing and future
retired employees of this subsidiary. The only obligation of this
subsidiary with respect to the central pension scheme is to
meet the required contributions under the scheme. The Group's
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed in the central pension scheme. The Group has no
forfeiture of pension scheme contributions (i.e. contributions
processed by the employer on behalf of the employee who
has exited the scheme prior to vesting of such contributions.)
As at 31 December 2023, no forfeited contribution under the
Pension Scheme of the Group is available for deduction of
contributions payable in coming years.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of RMB1,742,000
(2022: RMB1,665,000) represents contributions payable to
these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the
plan.
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37.

38.

39.

BT
AREBR - -_=ZF+-"A=+—HIES
RERFRE(ZZE-_—_F &) -

EEERKHR

R-E-_=F+_A=+—HB A£EE@
BE#H B ANRME3 777,000 (ZF = —F: 4
AR ®4,133,0000) 09I E W 2 (5E19)
NMEEEN A ARE2,187,0000 (===
F ) ANRE2,260,0005T) WA E T ib (HI7E
20) B FRITIE ARG RITE R 2 K17

s
AR °

BKREFRE

AEERBEEBRHELTESHEGIN AR
EEAEREBEERYBHMERATESE
([aFEeFTE]) - AEBEMARBESF B 2 #
PRBEEFERIEZS%tE  §4E
B AR LR A1,5008T - ECRABRES
REEREE NEREEME - RIER
BeordEl BEXRHEEEHAKREEMEBEK
ABIS5% MRS 8l MR - X8 AME
B8 UL A L BR A30,000/8 TR IR - & & & 5t

B RN R -

RABERIZAERBENBAR ZEBE /T
MRAZEEZHRERSFAEKE - ZH B
REAARREEAFENTIEZ-EANLL
AR RERE BRI ERERENZE
oM MBFAGEAEZMNBRABRMAER
BRARRENRER ZRIKENEE - ZH B
REIGLFPREBA S E 2 E—BERRER
EERAMBHK - AKRENRIHAR A S
REKRSFAEHRIKERFERER - A%
B3 L WOR R 2 5T BI 4 K (AN TR H
REBAIRHAENEEETH R
T+ -_A=1+—R AEERKEF
278 T 3 B WA SR AT B A HIUR R R FE Y
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RIBER RN 4% ARE1,742,0007T
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

40. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

41.

TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances as disclosed
elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, the Group
entered into the following material transaction with related
parties during the year.

Compensation of key management
personnel

Compensation for key management personnel, including
amount paid to the Group’s directors and the senior executive
is as follows:

Salaries and allowances e MoRR
Employer contribution to pension scheme
Share based payment expenses

P A0 1~ 3R X2

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted the Scheme on 5 June 2015 which will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from the effective date
of the scheme and will expire on 4 June 2025.

Under the Scheme, the Directors may at their discretion grant
options to the eligible participants, including but not limited
to, any Directors (whether executive or non-executive and
whether independent or not) and any employee (whether full
time or part time) of the Group or any other person, who has
contributed to the Group.

RESENHEES A

BEHRARSE 21

0. EXBEFRS

BREEMBHRRAEMBORENR 5 R E
BON FAREEERBEESTITANNTEARAR
5o

FTEEEBEAEBCZHE

IZEBEABZME BRENETEBES
REHRTBRAESBRET:

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® Tt ARBET T
2,627 2,538
BE 56 42
= 1,044
2,683 3,624
41. [BRRAEFH &

RARRR-ZE—HFXNARABRMNZTE
ZETEBEAEMBEHMBETFRBR MERHA
HER_T_RF~AMNAB-

REZE EFARNBERAEERSRAER
HERE BRETRRENES (THE
MITRFATREER L) RAKE ZEMA
BE (FTmReRsRB)AHAEEESR
Bz EEM AL
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 41. BRESTE (£Z)

The maximum number of shares in respect to which options
may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the
issued share capital of the Company on the date of adopting
the Scheme. The limit may be refreshed at any time provided
that the new limit must not be in aggregate exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company at the date of the
shareholders’ approval in general meeting. However, the total
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the scheme and any other scheme of the company must not
in aggregate exceed 30% of the shares in issue from time to
time. At 31 December 2022, an aggregate of 29,460,000 share
options granted under the Scheme remained outstanding,
which represented approximately 16.8% of the issued share
capital of the Company. The maximum number of shares in
respect of which options may be granted to any individual in
any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares in
issue on the last date of such 12-month period unless approval
of the shareholders of the Company has been obtained in
accordance with the Listing Rules. A nominal consideration of
HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the grant of an option.

Options may be exercised at any time from the date of grant
of the option to the 10th anniversary of the date of grant
as may be determined by the Directors. The exercise price is
determined by the Directors, and will not be less than the
highest of (i) the closing price per share as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotations sheets on the date of the grant of
the options; (ii) the average closing price per share as stated
in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant of
the options; or (iii) the nominal value of a share.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, an aggregate of
16,700,000 share options were granted under the Scheme
to the eligible participants and the closing price of the
shares immediately before the date on which the options
were granted was HK$0.415. 7,900,000 share options were
exercised and 60,000 share options were lapsed during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 9,630,000 share
options were lapsed. No share option was granted, exercised
and cancelled during the year.

126 CHINA AUTOMOTIVE INTERIOR DECORATION HOLDINGS LIMITED

BRBEZTEEL Z BREEITER 7] T
TZBRNEE &Z TBBARRRRNERNZL
BEHZEBEITRAI0% ;2 ERATEERE
o METREAETSBBEBRERARERS
HEER ARAIZEBITRAZ210% ° A
M REBEZTERANAREMEMGTE D
HERMRITEZ 2 BERERETER 7] T
BB BEIEBB IR ETRMNZ
30% RZZEZ_ZF+_A=+—H 1BE
% T B 8 $£5129,460,00017 B8 ML R 1T
AR EEBEITRAL16.8% - REM
T AEAR AEAEALERELZE
REETER A TFET2ROESEET
BHBEZT_REAMERE -—REAQFZE
BIIRMZ1% BRIERB EMALEHRAR
AR R AL ERIER R - REAXREIVEBTEAR
B B AR R S A o

BRETRROBEREABRES EERY
HBHEFOEMEBATE MHARHBE
ERAE-TEEBIHESFET AHITE
RUTz&&E: (VRBRERH B HERN
MRS B WERA SR WHE (i) BZ
B R M B IR R E S X A RO R
FREMEBRMABZFHRTE i) @
Ho

HE - —_F#+-_A=+—B1EE"
BEZTERAAEK2EBERL AR
16,700,00017 i B 4 - B2 52 9% 1 R B 42 B 87
AR HEA0ASE T - BHE-_T - =
F+-—A=+—HIEFE " 7,900,00017 8 %
FEE1T{E - 60,00017 B8 A% 7 B Sk 3k -

BHE-_ZE-_=—#+-_A=+—BH1&EE"
9,630,000 B HED k- £ - BEERH -
1T{E v 8 BE A 4 -

ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 41. BRESTE (&)
Details of the movements of the share options granted by the AN FIR IR AR A B B i
Company pursuant to the Share Option Scheme from the date BHENEBFEENT

of grant are as below:

At 31 December 2023 R-EBE-_=%F+=-fA=+—

Movement during the period

Outstanding at
Exercise price  Outstanding at 31 December
Date of grant HKS 1 January 2023 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2023 Exercise period
R-B-=F R-B-=
ke -B-H tZA=t-A
RIEAH B HATE 2544 B gitH BAX MATE TR
Category 1:
LYK
Directors
E%
Zhuang Yuejin 15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022
R “Z-251ATRAZ
“3-FRATEA
13 May 2022 0433 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
ZRCZERATEH “EC-ERATZHE
“E2-RmERATZA

Wong Ho Yin (resigned on
18 October 2023)

EAR(R-2-=f%
TATNEEE)

15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022
ZE-FERATRAZ
ZE-ZFRATNA

13 May 2022 0433
ZEICERATER

13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
“E--ERATZRZE
“E-MmERATZ-A

15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022

“E-FERATRAZ
—E--FRATEA

13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024

ZECZERAT=ZRZE
ZE-MEFRATZA

15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022

ZE-EFRATRAE
—E-CERATMA

Xiao Suni

HELR

13 May 2022 0433
—E--FRATER

Total
@i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e M B RRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
HE T _=—F+_A=+—HIFE

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 41. B ESHE (&)
At 31 December 2022 R-B-Z—F+=-R=+—H
Movement during the period
BNEH
Outstanding at
Exercise price Outstanding at 31 December
Date of grant HKS 1 January 2022 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2022 Exercise period
R-Z-% R-B-ZfF
1 -A-8 +ZA=+-A
FLAH BT AR BRI BT B BAR WAR RS
Category 1:
Bl
Directors
g%
Zhuang Yuejin 15 May 2020 0.425 796,000 - (790,000) - (6,000) - 15May 2020 to 14 May 2022
fig: 3 ZZ-ZERATEHA “Z-ZERATRAZ
“ECERATRA
13 May 2022 0433 - 1,670,000 = = - 1,670,000 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
ZECCERATER ZECZERATERAZE
ZEImERATCR
Wong Ho Yin 15 May 2020 0.425 79,000 - (790,000) - (6,000) - 15May 2020 to 14 May 2022
BER “E2-ZFRATEA 2-TFRATRAZ
ZERATHA
13 May 2022 0433 - 1,670,000 - - - 1,670,000 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
ZEZZERATER ZE-CFRATZHE
“Z-MERATCA
Xiao Suni 15 May 2020 0.425 796,000 - (790,000) - (6,000) - 15May 2020 to 14 May 2022
HE i ZZZERATEA F-TFRATARAZ
CZERATRA
13 May 2022 0433 - 1,670,000 - - - 1,670,000 13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
“TZZFRATER ““ﬁﬁ)ﬁ Az
Zhu Chunyan 15 May 2020 0.425 796,000 - (790,000) - (6,000) - 15May 2020 to 14 May 2022
RER ZZRERATEHA “ZCRERATRAZ
ZZERA1MA
Total 3,184,000 5,010,000 (3,160,000) - (24,000) 5,010,000

it
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMBRRMEE (F)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Be2—F-_—Ff+-_A=+—HIFEF
41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

At 31 December 2023

Date of grant
RiEAH

Category 2:

232

Employees 4 April 2019

B8 ZE-N\FEAMA
12 May 2021
“E--fEAtA
13 May 2022
“RoCEEATER
Total
&zt

Total

a5

At 31 December 2022

Date of grant
RHAH

Category 2:

B2

Employees 4 April 2019

ER ZE-NERARE
15 May 2020
—F-RFRATRA
12 May 2021
“E--fEATZA
13 May 2022
ZRCCERATER
Total
st

Total

&t

RESENHEES A

Exercise price
HKS

R3]
b

2.500

0.690

0.433

Exercise price
HKS

ke
b

2.500

0.425

0.690

0.433

41. BRELHE (&)
N-—ZB-_=%+=-H=+—H

Movement during the period

Exercise period

fgid

4 April 2019 to 3 April 2029
ZE-N\FNANAZR
ZE-NEMAZH

15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022
ZT-ZRERATRAE
ZZ-ZFRATRA

12 May 2021 to 11 May 2023

13 May 2022 to 12 May 2024
ZZ-Z5RATZRE
“F-MERAT=A

Exercise period

T8

4 April 2019 to 3 April 2029
ZR-NENANRE
“T-NEMA=A

15 May 2020 to 14 May 2022
SERATREEER
“Z--ERRTEA

12 May 2021 to 11 May 2023
T--fRAT-HE

—m—

AR
Outstanding at
Outstanding at 31 December
1 January 2023 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2023
R-B-=f W-g-=f&
-A-A t=A=t+-8
EXHd BRI B BH# BAH GEXG:d
4,800,000 - - - - 4,800,000
7,960,000 - - - (7,960,000) -
11,690,000 - - - - 11,690,000
24,450,000 = = = (7,960,000) 16,490,000
29,460,000 - - - (9,630,000) 19,830,000
R-ZE-_—F+-_HA=+—H
Movement during the period
AR
Outstanding at
Outstanding at 31 December
1 January 2022 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed 2022
it et 3 R-g-cE
-B-H +ZA=+-H
WATE BRE BT % BE# BAH HATE
4,800,000 - - - - 4,800,000
4,776,000 - (4,740,000 - (36,000) -
7,960,000 - - - - 7,960,000
- 11,690,000 - - - 11,690,000
17,536,000 11,690,000 (4,740,000) - (36,000) 24,450,000
20,720,000 16,700,000 (7,900,000) - (60,000) 29,460,000
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
BE—T-_=—F+—A=+—HIFFE

41. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 41. BRESTE (£&)
The fair value of share options were calculated using the BRENATFTEFHAZBEABERGE - ER
Binomial Model. The inputs into the model were as follows: ETAMEBAZEMT
2019.04.09 2022.05.13
—E-NE —E-C
Date of grant Rt A mAARB BEA+=H
Grant date share price RH B RGO ERS HKDO0.067/87C  HKDO0.415/% T
Exercise price before Share
Consolidation Bt & BETE 1T (28 HKDO.1787C  HKD0.433/% T
Exercise price after Share
Consolidation Bt & B 1T (2B HKDO.5/%7C  HKD0.433/# T
Expected volatility T8 HY R 12 75.596% 141.378%
Expected life TEHIER 10 years 2 years
Risk-free rate EE RN X 1.559% 2.330%
Expected dividend yield T8 HARR B M 0% 0%
During the year ended 31 December 2023, the equity-settled HE-_Z-_=F+=-A=+-—"HLFE B
share-based payment expense recognised in profit or loss was BaBEROUAEEEE AR AERI A
approximately nil (2022: RMB3,008,000). WRXHAT (ZT =4 AR%3,008,000
JT) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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42. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
e MBRERME (&

OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY

ASSETS
Non-current asset
Investments in subsidiaries

Current assets
Prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

Amounts due from subsidiaries (note (a))

Cash and bank balances

Total assets

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to

the owners of the Company
Share capital
Reserves (note (b))

Total equity

RESENHEES A

BE
FRBEE
KRB AR MIRE

RBEE
BNFE -RER
H A & YRR
& s Bt 8 A R ROR (Mt (a))
Re RRITEH

EEAE

R
RATEEARGERRFRE

&N
[ (b))

EEARE

42. XD T MBI K2 ER

2023 2022
—EC-=HF —Eg=-=
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® TR ARET T
18,760 18,760
1,648 1,604
71,224 72,210
393 108
73,265 73,922
92,025 92,682
3,643 3,643
87,835 88,326
91,478 91,969




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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42. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

REEE
FERT & A R B 5 3R

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables

Total liabilities BEAHE

Total equity and liabilities ERREERSE
Net current assets RBEEFH
Total assets less current liabilities REERRBAEE
Net assets EERE

Approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2024 and
signed on its behalf by:

Zhuang Yuejin
HRE
Director

BF
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42, AREHBRARZER (&)

2023 2022
—E-= T —4F
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AR¥ET R ARET T
547 713

547 713
92,025 92,682
72,718 73,209
91,478 91,969
91,478 91,969

R-E-NFEF=ZA=+—HBHESSHEL

BTIATRERESE:

Ng Chung Ho
HER
Director

BF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023
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42. INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT
OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The amounts due from subsidiaries are non-trade nature, unsecured,

interest-free and recoverable on demand.

Movement of the Company’s reserves.

At 1 January 2022

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive income/
(expense) for the year

Share-based payment expenses

Exercise of share options

Lapse of share options

At 31 December 2022 and
1 January 2023

Loss for the year

Other comprehensive income
for the year

Total comprehensive income/
(expense) for the year

Lapse of share options

At 31 December 2023

FESEABKESR AR

RZZZZF—-A—H
FEESR
FEAMZERE

FEREME/ (%) 88
BRARREAZ

I ERE

BRELM
RZFZZF+ZA=+—-HBR
ZZZ=f-H-H
FEEE

FEEME2ENE
FEZEME/ (FX) &8

BRI

RZF-=F+=-A=+—H

42, ARE)UBRRARZER (£F)

Bat -
(@ RERINBRAFARERFEZLE EEA 28
K Zskigm e
(b) ARRFEEZEH-
Foreign
currency Share
Share  Contributed  translation option Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
R4 RE BABR HNERERE BRERSE RHER Bt
RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT AR®TR ARETT ARETR ARKTE ARETR
(note 29) (note 29) (note 29) (note 41)
(Hiz29) (Hiz#29) (His229) (Kizta1)
322,051 17,219 18,320 6,086 (282,021) 81,655
- - = - (4,783) (4,783)
- - 5,771 - - 5,771
- - 5,771 - (4,783) 988
- - - 3,008 - 3,008
3,594 - - (919) = 2,675
- _ _ ) 7 _
325,645 17,219 24,091 8,168 (286,797) 88,326
- - - - (2,477) (2,477)
- - 1,986 - - 1,986
- - 1,986 - 2,477 (491)
- - - (301) 301 -
325,645 17,219 26,077 7,867 (288,973) 87,835




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023

BE
43.

44.

=FF A=A AR
NON-CASH TRANSACTION

There was no non-cash transaction during the year ended 31
December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the equity-settled
share-based payment expense recognised in profit or loss was
approximately RMB3,008,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities of approximately RMB5,195,000 and approximately
RMB5,195,000, respectively in respect of lease arrangements
for office premises and factories.

DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

The Group acquired Loyal Brands International Limited and its
subsidiaries, including Grand York Limited, Giant Faith Holdings
Limited, A XEZBEHEER QA and RXYEFZRMAR
2] ("Loyal Brands Group”), in May 2017. Loyal Brands Group
principally engaged in trading of food products.

In or around November 2023, the board of directors of the
Company (the “Board”) was informed by Mr. Wong Ho Yin, the
former director of the Company who resigned as the executive
director of the Company on 18 October 2023, that the business
and accounting records of Loyal Brands Group, including but
not limited to sales invoice, purchase invoice, accounting ledger
and vouchers, were unable to locate. The Board has also tried
to contact the person-in-charge of Loyal Brands Group (the
“Responsible Staff”) through Mr. Wong Ho Yin, but he was
unable to (i) contact the Responsible Staff and (ii) obtain the
accounting books and records of Loyal Brands Group.

On 27 December 2023, Mr. Ng Chung Ho was appointed as
an executive director of the Company. Mr. Ng Chung Ho had
thoroughly searched all the files and documents kept in the
office in Hong Kong and was unable to locate any business
and accounting records of Loyal Brands Group. Mr. Ng Chung
Ho also tried to contact the Responsible Staff but unable to
obtain positive response and cooperation. Mr. Ng Chung Ho
further contacted the director of Loyal Brands Group but the
director of Loyal Brands Group replied that he did not have any
accounting books and records of Loyal Brands Group.

As the business of trading of food products which operated
by Loyal Brands Group was not significant to the Group and
no relevant personnel within the Group is able to resume the
business, the Board has decided to dispose of Loyal Brands
Group to reduce the financial and compliance risk of the
Group. On 14 March 2024, the Group disposed of Loyal Brands
Group with the cash consideration of HK$1 million to an
independent third party.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Fade)

PR MY ()

For the year ended 31 December 2023

#=E
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44. DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

(Continued)

In light of the above circumstances, the Group considered it
had lost control over Loyal Brands Group and had excluded
the consolidated financial position of Loyal Brands Group as
at and after and the results and cash flows of Loyal Brands
Group since 1 January 2023 from the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
(the “Deconsolidation”).

Regarding to the Deconsolidation, the Group will perform
the investigation and may take legal action against the
wrongdoer(s), if any, for the loss suffered by the incident.

The following set out the financial impact on the

44, RILGZEANRMB AR (£)

BN EER AEBERAEE KL Loyal

Brands £ B & % §i| # - 3 2 #% Loyal Brands
SER_T-_=F—A—ARZENGEH

TEAR ST A & Loyal Brands £ B E 7% B H1 A 5%k

MEERBEeRENXAEEHE_T=_=F

WL_E_WL BIEFEMNEEMBEREF S
B (T IEGRAAR]D -

MELEEAEME AEBEHEHZEHE
BREBRERBASL A EEAR (WE)
HHUEEITH -

T%%\Z@Jﬂﬂ:ﬁé\)\,ﬁﬁmyal Brands % & /)

Deconsolidation of Loyal Brands Group: WigEe
RMB’000
ARBTT
Right-of-use assets CREEE 237
Trade and bill receivables JEWE 578 R E1E 7,824
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TERIE - & R H A EUWGRIA 165
Cash and bank balances RE RIBITEH 61
Trade payables fgﬁ 2 S IA (174)
Accruals and other payables JEAERREMEMNTIE (7,701)
Contract liabilities ,u’]iéﬁ (798)
Lease liabilities HEAE (243)
Tax payable FER LA (586)
Net liabilities of Loyal Brands Group Loyal Brands £ Bl ®) & &% (1,215)
Cumulative exchange reserve ER 62
Amount due from Loyal Brands Group N5 [ & UL Loyal Brands S [ 5008 (47:7)
to the Group (note) 7,623
Loss on Deconsolidation (note 10) RILEGRE ANBRZIEE (B:E10) 6,470
Net cash outflow from deconsolidation of subsidiaries — #8147 & A BRITE X 7] E £ A
B 7 FEE
Cash and bank balances Re MRITA (61)
Note: As at 31 December 2023, the Group has an amount due from Wiz WN-_ZE-—=F#+—-_RA=+—HB ~AE£HE

Loyal Brands Group, net of approximately RMB7,623,000. Due to
the loss of control over Loyal Brands Group, an impairment loss of
RMB7,623,000 had been provided for as loss on Deconsolidation
of subsidiaries in the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

U Loyal Brands EEF B FHLHAARK
7,623,0007T ° 3 7 25 A ¥ Loyal Brands & [E &)
PRl BEHEREE B AR7,623,0007T
REBEE-_ZT-_=4+-A=+—-HBIFEH

BREVBREPERREREARWNEARR
ZEE
45. AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF 45. BT REEMBREK
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The consolidated financial statements were approved and REVBERRER_ZE-_MF=RAR=+—8H

BEseftfERRENE-

authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March
2024.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MBERNBE

The following is a summary of the published results and of the assets LA T AAR&EE IR T 5 AT & HER 2 2 T35
and liabilities of the group prepared on the bases set out in the note ¥4%&HEENBEHE:

below:
Year ended 31 December
BZ+-A=+-BHLEE
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NEFE ZE-THF —T—_— —E- —EC-=H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTT ARETT AR®TT AR®TR
Revenue WA 260,896 141,626 181,701 184,036 113,673
Gross profit EF 23,940 13,485 24,039 19,486 30,795
(Loss)/profit before tax AT (E18)
Ve vl (31,482) (6,286) (175) (78,470) 34,347
(Loss)/profit for the year KRN BB AEAS
attributable to owners FE (BE)
of the Company Ve ¥l (30,176) (3,890) (410) (78,558) 30,031
Basic (loss)/earnings per share &R EZ (E518)
(RMB cents) S BN (ANRED) (37.9) (4.6) (0.29) (45.56) 17.15
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+-—H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
—E-NF ZBEZEF T T —E=-=
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ARBTFIT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT AR%®TR
Non-current assets ERBEE 71,503 70,590 65,321 51,790 93,139
Current assets mENE B 251,059 244,714 278,521 255,427 172,295
Current liabilities mEBAE 143,187 135,513 151,954 180,943 110,690
Non-current liabilities ERBEE 3,262 3,727 2,180 4,608 2,552
Net assets FEE 176,113 176,064 189,708 121,666 152,192
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